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Department of Planning
Development Assessment Panels

Letter of transmittal

Hon Donna Faragher JP MLC
Minister for Planning

In accordance with Section 61 of the Financial Management 
Act 2006, I submit for your information and presentation to 
Parliament, the Annual Report of the Department of Planning and 
Development Assessment Panels for the year ended 30 June 2016.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the 
provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 and any other 
relevant written law.

Gail McGowan

Director General 
Department of Planning

21 September 2016

This annual report covers the operations of two interrelated 
State Government entities – the Department of Planning and 
Development Assessment Panels throughout Western Australia.

Each has a separate enabling legislation and responsibilities, as 
outlined in this document.

This report also presents a series of audited financial statements 
and performance indicators for the year ended 30 June 2016.

About this report



Department of Planning  ANNUAL REPORT  2015/16 iv

CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY VI

SIGNIFICANT ISSUES AND TRENDS 1

AT A GLANCE: HIGHLIGHTS OF 2015/2016 2 

ABOUT THE DEPARTMENT 5
ABOUT DEVELOPMENT ASSESSMENT PANELS 8

ENABLING LEGISLATION 9

RESPONSIBLE MINISTER 9

LEGISLATION ADMINISTERED 9

STAKEHOLDERS 10

REPORT ON OPERATIONS 11
PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK 12

SERVICE 1: INTEGRATED LAND AND INFRASTRUCTURE POLICY DEVELOPMENT 13

SERVICE 2:  LAND ACCESSIBILITY PLANNING AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 17

DEVELOPMENT ASSESSMENT PANELS PERFORMANCE 22



Department of Planning  ANNUAL REPORT  2015/16 v

MANAGING THE DEPARTMENT 24

GOVERNANCE AND OTHER DISCLOSURES 31

WHERE TO FIND US 34

APPENDICES 

APPENDIX 1:  CORPORATE EXECUTIVE COMPOSITION 35

APPENDIX 2:  REMUNERATION FOR COMMITTEE MEMBERS 2015/16 37



Department of Planning  ANNUAL REPORT  2015/16 vi

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

If asked to characterise the previous 12 months in 
a single word, that word would be collaboration. 
Successful planning can only be achieved when we 
bring to the table those who have a stake in the 
outcome. In the past year, the Department has 
focused on engaging with our stakeholders across 
industry, government, peak bodies, as well as the 
community more broadly. 

In December 2015, the Strategic Assessment of the 
Perth and Peel Regions (SAPPR) or Green Growth 

Plan for 3.5 million was released for public comment.  This is the largest 
environmental assessment ever undertaken in Australia – at some 900,000 
hectares – and aims to streamline approval processes by gaining upfront 
Commonwealth environmental approval.

Community input has also been sought on the once in a generation draft 
Perth and Peel@3.5million and supporting suite of sub-regional frameworks. 
Over 1100 submissions were received.  

The final strategy – informed by local expertise, community input and global 
best practice – will offer a vision for the future of the Perth and Peel region 
that is practical and pragmatic while charting a path to the future. 

Once completed, this suite of long-term planning documents will provide 
direction for residential development locations, protection of our 
environmental assets and optimising existing and proposed infrastructure.  The 
finalisation of these consultation processes signals the beginning of an exciting 
new era for Perth and Peel.

Work continues on implementation of the Planning Makes it Happen – Phase 
Two reforms.  The next tranche of reforms will include an administrative 
review of the Planning and Development Act 2005; preparing region planning 
scheme regulations to improve the amendment process; and progressing a 
suite of polices to guide the quality of urban design and development.

The Department supports the sustainable development of regional Western 
Australia and aims to provide the enablers of prosperity and resilience in 
remote, regional and rural communities.  

Over and above our role in supporting the Western Australian Planning 
Commission (WAPC) to fulfil a large number of statutory functions such 
as subdivision and structure plan determinations, a number of key projects 
have been progressed. An example is the review of State Planning Policy for 
Land Use Planning in Rural Areas.  The policy introduces a more contemporary 
direction for intensive agriculture, managing the transition from rural to urban 
land uses, in addition to a ‘basic raw material’ policy outside of the Perth 
and Peel regions and ‘off the grid’ power supplies.  This policy aligns with the 
implementation of Perth and Peel@3.5million.  

Legislative reform is also well underway with the new Planning and 
Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015 becoming operational 
in October 2015.  The regulations standardise the planning process and aim 
to make obtaining building and renovation approvals more straightforward for 
homeowners, small business and industry.  This is an important reform that 
ensures more consistent planning processes across all schemes.

The Department has made solid advances in the interagency coordination 
of infrastructure planning. One significant development in this area is the 
creation of an interactive map of medium and long-term infrastructure and 
network plans.  The end product has the potential to become an important 
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tool to guide more coordinated decision making across government so that 
infrastructure optimises the implementation of Government objectives such as 
Perth and Peel@3.5million.

Integral to achieving good planning outcomes for Western Australians is a 
need for greater focus on design of the built environment.  The Department is 
working with a wide range of expert stakeholders to develop a contemporary 
design policy suite for consideration by the WAPC.  The goal is to provide 
a more holistic approach that acknowledges the need for enhanced 
opportunities for precinct or form-based planning. Collaboration has been 
a central tenet to our approach to this undertaking and I would like to 
acknowledge the input and goodwill from industry and local government in 
the process so far.

Intrinsically linked to this focus on design of the built environment are the 
Development Assessment Panels (DAPs). Since their introduction in 2011, 
more than 1000 applications have been processed by DAPs amounting to 
some $30 billion of development value.  A review undertaken as part of the 
planning reform process, generally supported the operation of the DAPs 
system and did not recommend any substantive changes, though we remain 
open to continuous improvement of the system.

Working alongside other State government agencies, the Department 
continues to play an important role in the implementation of the State 
Affordable Housing Strategy.  The Department’s role in this space includes 
planning provisions for affordable housing, developing design guidelines for 
multi-unit development and identifying barriers to repurposing large or 
underutilised non-residential buildings.

In this same spirit of collaboration, the Department worked closely with the 
Department of Fire and Emergency Services (DFES), Office of Bushfire Risk 
Management and the Building Commission in developing and implementing 
government reforms to help protect lives and property against the threat of 
bushfires throughout Western Australia. 

The Department continues to invest in people and technology in order to 
provide efficient, contemporary services and high quality planning outcomes 
for the people of Western Australia. In March 2016, nine graduates joined the 
Department – all fully qualified planners – the first graduate program intake in 
10 years.  A ‘Living Leadership Program’ was also launched this year as a way 
of developing and promoting leadership from within the Department.  These 
initiatives form part of a larger human resource strategy that is about creating 
a well-supported, mobile and adaptable workforce, shaped with operational 
needs and government priorities in mind.

This year has also seen the development, refinement and bedding down of a 
number of technology-based enhancements to planning tools, including the 
revised PlanWA viewing tool and interactive DAP maps.

In March 2016, we welcomed Minister Donna Faragher to the planning 
portfolio. I would like to acknowledge the outgoing Minister, the Hon. John 
Day MLA, who took on the Planning portfolio in 2008.  Minister Day oversaw 
some momentous changes in the way planning operates in Western Australia 
and spearheaded a range of significant reforms, many of which are now 
coming to fruition.

I look forward to building upon the already productive relationship with 
Minister Faragher for the benefit of all Western Australians and providing 
ongoing support to the WAPC as it carries out its important role.
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The coming year will see a strong focus on finalisation and implementation 
of the suite of strategic documents shaping the future of Perth and Peel. 
In addition, the process of planning reform will continue with the aim of 
promoting timely decision making and working in partnership with local 
governments to keep our planning system robust, transparent and fair.

Gail McGowan

Director General 
Department of Planning
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SIGNIFICANT ISSUES IMPACTING THE AGENCY

Forecasting System is utilised by whole of government (for example Treasury, 
Transport, Health, Education).  Lot data is critical to industry in matching 
demand and supply of lots. 

• The Department continues to prepare the Urban Development 
Program for the Western Australian Planning Commission (WAPC), to 
fulfil the requirements for tracking and modelling land supply as outlined in 
the Planning and Development Act 2005.  The program aims to monitor and 
coordinate land supply and the timely delivery of residential, industrial and 
commercial land.

• On behalf of the WAPC, the Department continues to progress 
transport route planning initiatives through a series of acquisitions 
and land amendments as part of the review of the design and planning for 
roads and infrastructure.  

• The Phase Two Action Plan for the State Affordable Housing Strategy 
was released by the Department of Housing in 2015. Of the 34 actions, 
eight are tasked to the Department of Planning and/or the Office of Land 
and Housing Supply.  These include planning provisions for affordable 
housing; developing design guidelines for multi-unit development; identifying 
options to address infill impediments (land assembly, infrastructure) and 
activating urban consolidation; and identifying barriers to repurposing or 
redeveloping large buildings and underutilised non-residential buildings.

• The Strategic Assessment of the Perth and Peel regions –  
also known as the Green Growth Plan for 3.5 million aims to streamline 
State and Commonwealth environmental approvals.  The Department is 
working with the Department of the Premier and Cabinet and a range of 
other agencies to progress this plan and related issues including basic raw 
materials. The draft Green Growth Plan package of documents was endorsed 
by Cabinet and released for comment in December 2015. 

• Planning reform phase two implementation. Revised Local Planning 
Scheme Regulations became operational from 19 October 2015. Other 
legislative projects progressing as a priority include amendments to the 
Planning and Development Act and new Region Planning Scheme Regulations. 
In addition, the ongoing development of efficient, contemporary online 
facilities has also made a significant contribution to the planning reform 
agenda outcomes.  This includes the launch of the new Department 
website, online lodgement through ePlan, the revised PlanWA viewing tool 
and interactive Development Assessment Panels (DAPs) maps. Work on 
the expansion of ePlan and eLodgment services will continue in 2016/17.

• The Department continues to provide coordination and secretariat 
services to Development Assessment Panels (DAPs). Established in 
2011, DAPs received the 1000th application in March 2016.  The proposed 
development costs of these applications to date amounts to in excess of 
$30 billion.  Approximately 40 per cent of all DAPS applications have been 
opt-in.

• Demography and Indicators Program.  The Department delivers an 
ongoing program of demography and applied urban research projects that 
enable government to understand population trends and plan for efficient 
delivery of government services. WA Tomorrow and Metropolitan Land Use 
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Design WA
On behalf of the State Government and the WAPC, the Department of 
Planning has commenced formulating a contemporary framework for design 
policy under the banner Design WA. Extensive research and consultation with 
stakeholders is well underway. Foundation documents will include a State 
planning policy on design of the built environment and state planning policy 
for apartment design.

Vision set out for future of Swan Valley 
The Swan Valley has considerable historical and cultural value as a viticulture, 
agricultural and tourism region.  The Swan Valley Development Plan was 
released for public comment and drafting of the Swan Valley Planning Act has 
progressed for consideration by Government.  The proposed legislation and 
development plan will enable informed and consistent decisions to be made 
regarding future land use and development.  For more information please 
view at http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/7226.asp

AT A GLANCE:  HIGHLIGHTS OF 2015/2016

R-Code changes ensure density in  
right locations
The Residential Design Codes (R-Codes) are the primary tool to determine 
the design, assessment and approval of residential dwellings and lot sizes 
in Western Australia.  Amendments to the R-codes were introduced in 
October 2015 to bring the rules for apartments in line with houses, units 
and townhouses in lower density suburban areas and to ensure the number 
of dwellings on a block is appropriate for the location.  This will encourage 
apartment development to occur in appropriate higher density urban areas, 
and within 800 metres of key activity centres and train station precincts.

New regulations introduced to 
streamline planning approval processes
The Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015 
came into effect in October 2015.  The new regulations apply to all local 
governments and aim to streamline and standardise planning processes 
for building and renovation applications.  The new regulations affect local 
planning strategies, schemes and amendments with the aim of simplifying and 
expediting certain processes.



Department of Planning  ANNUAL REPORT  2015/16 3

Bassendean Oval redevelopment 
Plans to redevelop the Bassendean Oval and the northern portion of the 
town centre were progressed.  The proposed redevelopment aligns with the 
State Government’s activity centre policy and will contribute to the delivery of 
appropriate density along major transport corridors and infrastructure.  This is 
a joint project between the State Government, Town of Bassendean and Swan 
Districts Football Club.

Residential development on   
Guildford Hotel site
Following an amendment to the City of Swan’s Local Planning Scheme to 
allow a residential development behind the historic fire damaged property, 
the Guildford Hotel has successfully reopened.  The development is consistent 
with the principles of Directions 2031 and Beyond and the draft Perth and 
Peel@3.5million.

Bushfire reforms 
The Department has developed a bushfire policy framework as part of 
the Government’s package of reforms to help protect lives and property 
against the threat of bushfires throughout Western Australia.  These reforms 
introduce new requirements for people intending to develop and/or build in 
bushfire prone areas, including the need to assess a property’s bushfire risk 
and take additional construction measures to limit the impact of bushfires.

Regional planning and infrastructure 
frameworks
Regional planning and infrastructure frameworks establish a regional vision 
and basis for decision-making.  The frameworks also introduce a number of 
planning initiatives, which form the basis of an ongoing work program for 
the Department of Planning. In the past year, the Department prepared 
regional planning and infrastructure frameworks on behalf of the WAPC for 
the Wheatbelt, Great Southern, South West and Kimberley.  The completion 
of these documents finalises the suite of regional planning and infrastructure 
frameworks for the State.

Ascot Kilns to be incorporated into 
future planning of precinct
Planning for the former Bristile Kilns land and Golden Gateway precinct 
progressed.  A local development plan is being prepared to provide guidance 
on the management and interpretation of the site’s distinctive heritage 
elements and guide future development to integrate this historical feature. The 
Bristile Kilns site is listed on the State Register of Heritage Places.
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Draft Wanju District Structure Plan – 
Greater Bunbury 
This proposed South West urban centre will accommodate up to 50,000 
people in a mix of sustainable, diverse housing options. Local involvement was 
critical to the project and the Department worked collaboratively with the 
community and the Shire of Dardanup on the structure plan.  ‘Wanju’ means 
welcome in local Noongar language and was selected by local community 
representatives.  The draft Wanju District Structure Plan was released for 
public comment in April 2016 and can be viewed here http://www.planning.
wa.gov.au/publications/8346.asp.  

Coastal Policy and Coastal Zone 
Management 
The Department administers the WAPC’s coastal zone management 
program. Coastwest and Coastal Management Plan Assistance Program 
grants are distributed to local coastal managers and community groups to 
undertake coastal works and planning for coastal hazard risk management 
and adaptation.  On behalf of the WAPC, the Department has led a 
cross-government project that has delivered a major new high resolution 
bathymetric LiDAR survey from Hillarys to Horrocks, providing an important 
baseline data for coastal processes modelling.  The Department also provides 
advice to local governments, State government agencies, and proponents on 
implementation of the State Coastal Planning Policy.

Strategic Assessment of Perth and Peel 
released for public comment
Also known as the ‘Green Growth Plan’, this assessment was released for 
public comment late in 2015. The Plan is the largest environmental assessment 
ever undertaken in Australia and aims to guide the sustainable growth of 
the metropolitan area while protecting areas of land with environmental 
significance.  This whole of government initiative has been developed alongside 
the draft Perth and Peel@3.5million sub-regional planning frameworks to 
ensure alignment and consistency. 

Shenton Park hospital redevelopment 
plans released
An improvement scheme has been prepared to guide the redevelopment of 
the former Shenton Park Hospital site into an urban village that is an exemplar 
of infill development.  The scheme aims to coordinate the development of an 
urban community, including high-quality design, land use and essential services.  
The redevelopment promotes infill, and aligns with the draft Perth and 
Peel@3.5million and other planning policies. The draft improvement scheme is 
available at http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/8236.asp. 
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ABOUT THE DEPARTMENT

The Department of Planning provides planning expertise and advice to 
the Minister for Planning and the Western Australian Planning Commission 
(WAPC) in the administration of planning legislation, including the Planning and 
Development Act 2005.

The Department is also the principal agency responsible for supporting the 
WAPC to undertake its role, responsibilities and functions. 

The Department provides professional and technical expertise, services and 
resources to advise the WAPC and the Minister, and implements decisions 
relating to the planning and development of communities throughout the 
State.

In fulfilling this role, the Department, on behalf of the Minister and the WAPC, 
facilitates strategic land-use planning for the State and provides

• Advice and assistance on landuse planning, including for local governments

• Development and review of State planning policies

• Implementation of statutory approvals for subdivision, strata title and 
development applications

• Delivery of key planning projects and initiatives and coordination of 
planning infrastructure 

• Assessment of local planning schemes and amendments, and review of 
region planning schemes

• Administrative support of Development Assessment Panels (DAPs)

• Forecasting and modelling land-use and population for Western Australia; 
and

• Management of reserved land under region schemes.

The Department’s 438 employees (435 full-time equivalents) are based in the 
Perth CBD, Whiteman Park and regional offices located at Albany, Broome, 
Bunbury, Geraldton, and Mandurah.
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About Development Assessment 
Panels 
Development Assessment Panels (DAPs), operating since 1 July 2011, were set 
up as part of the State Government’s reform commitment to streamline and 
improve the planning approvals process.

The role of DAP members is to determine development applications within 
a certain type and value threshold through consistent, accountable, and 
professional decision-making. 

From July 2015 a Ministerial Order amalgamated the original nine regional 
Joint Development Assessment Panels (JDAPs) into three regional DAPs 
covering the northern, central and southern areas of Western Australia.  There 
are six DAPs in the Perth metropolitan area.

The role of the Department of Planning is to maintain a DAP Secretariat 
to ensure professional administrative support to each DAP, publish agendas 
and minutes, and to maintain an accurate database of meetings and member 
participation.

DAPs have improved the planning system by providing more transparency, 
consistency and reliability in decision-making on high value development 
applications. All DAP meetings are open to the media and general public.

Under the Planning and Development (Development Assessment Panels) 
Regulations 2011 (DAPs Regulations), each DAP can determine development 
applications as if it were the responsible authority under the relevant planning 
instrument, such as the local planning scheme or region planning scheme.

DAP applications cannot be determined by local governments or the 
WAPC however those authorities are responsible for providing a report and 
recommendations on the development application to the relevant DAP.

For more information visit http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/Development-
Assessment-Panels.asp.

Appendix 2 contains the remuneration data for DAP members.



Department of Planning  ANNUAL REPORT  2015/16 9

Enabling legislation
Department of Planning
The Department of Planning is established under section 35 of the Public 
Sector Management Act 1994.

Development Assessment Panels
Development Assessment Panels are established under part 11A of the 
Planning and Development Act 2005. Also relevant are the Planning and 
Development (Development Assessment Panels) Regulations 2011.

Responsible Minister
The Department of Planning (incorporating Development Assessment Panels) 
is responsible to the Minister for Planning, the Hon. Donna Faragher JP MLC.

Legislation administered
Department of Planning
The Minister for Planning, principally assisted by the Department of Planning, is 
responsible for the administration of the following Acts:

• Fitzgerald Street Bus Bridge Act 1991;

• Forrest Place and City Station Development Act 1985;

• Hope Valley-Wattleup Redevelopment Act 2000;

• Metropolitan Region Improvement Tax Act 1959;

• Metropolitan Region Scheme (Fremantle) Act 1994;

• Perry Lakes Redevelopment Act 2005;

• Planning and Development Act 2005;

• Planning and Development (Consequential and Transitional Provisions) Act 2005;

• Port Kennedy Development Agreement Act 1992;

• Road Closure Act 1969; and

• Swan Valley Planning Act 1995. 

Development Assessment Panels
Development Assessment Panels exercise the functions and powers given to 
it under the following legislation:

• Planning and Development Act 2005; and

• Planning and Development (Development Assessment Panels) Regulations 
2011.
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Our stakeholders
The Department of Planning contributes to and benefits from strong 
relationships with our stakeholders.  In particular these include:

• State and Commonwealth departments and public authorities

• Local governments

• Communities

• Regional authorities

• Development and planning industry

• Infrastructure providers

• Professional associations and representative groups; and

• University and research bodies.
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Our operating environment
The key drivers for land use and infrastructure planning in Western Australia 
include:

• adapting to demographic and population movement;

• implementing key state land use planning strategies and priorities as 
required by the Minister and the Western Australian Planning Commission 
(WAPC);

• enhancing urban consolidation;

• contributing to housing choice and diversity;

• supporting productivity and employment, including in rural and pastoral 
regions; and

• supporting natural resource management across the State.

REPORT ON OPERATIONS

Strategic goals
The strategic goals that will enable achievement of that joint vision have been 
identified as:

Planning: by improving the planning system and delivering plans 
that more efficiently meet changing community demands, we will be 
supporting the development of effective local communities.

Building partnerships: by strengthening our leadership 
capability through managed partnerships and services, we will 
enhance our relationships to assist in achieving our vision and the 
outcomes of our customers and partner organisations.

Governance: by improving management systems and promoting 
high participation and leadership at all levels, we will ensure 
accountability, good governance and financial sustainability.

Regulation: by improving the efficiency of legislated frameworks 
and supporting regulations, we will be adding value to our 
communities.
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Performance management framework
The Western Australian Government has five goals that guide the 
development of policies, programs and services within its agencies.  
These are:

Goal 1:  State building – major projects
Building strategic infrastructure that will create jobs and underpin 
Western Australia’s long-term economic development.

Goal 2:  Financial and economic responsibility
Responsibility for managing the State’s finances through the efficient 
and effective delivery of services, encouraging economic activity and 
reducing regulatory burdens on the private sector.

Goal 3:  Results based service delivery
Greater focus on achieving results in key service delivery areas for the 
benefit of all Western Australians.

Goal 4:  Stronger focus on the regions
Greater focus on service delivery, infrastructure investment and 
economic development to improve the overall quality of life in 
remote and regional areas.

Goal 5:  Social and economic responsibility
Ensuring that economic activity is managed in a socially and 
environmentally responsible manner for the long-term benefit of the 
State.

SERVICE

DESIRED OUTCOME

GOVERNMENT GOAL

Goal 3:
Results-based service delivery

Greater focus on achieving results in key service delivery 
areas for the benefit of all Western Australians

Integration of land systems 
that facilitates economic 

development
Accessibility to serviced 
land and infrastructure

Service 1:
Integrated land and 
infrastructure policy 

development

Service 2:
Land accessibility 

planning and policy 
development

The Department of Planning contributes to Goal 3: Results based service 
delivery.  In working towards achieving this goal, the Department undertakes 
the following two services to meet the following outcomes:



Department of Planning  ANNUAL REPORT  2015/16 13

SERVICE 1: INTEGRATED LAND AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE POLICY 
DEVELOPMENT

Design WA
Design WA is a suite of policies and process improvements aimed at 
enhancing the design quality of the built environment in our State. First 
articulated in Planning Makes It Happen: Phase 2 Blueprint for Planning 
Reform (http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/dop_pub_pdf/Blueprint_document_
interactive.pdf) as part of the Government’s broader planning reform agenda, 
this WAPC initiative is being developed and implemented by the Department 
and incorporates: 

• The introduction of a State planning policy on design of the built 
environment

• A specialised State planning policy for apartment design that is more 
performance based and responsive to multi-unit specific issues

• Consideration of opportunities to review the detached and group 
components of the existing Residential Design Codes

• The delivery of an implementation and training program

In the past year, a significant body of consultation and research has occurred, 
utilising the skills, knowledge and experience of a large cross-section of the 
planning, design and development industry. This work has included but is not 
limited to:

• The establishment of a practitioner working group of approximately 150 
members, consulted via a dedicated workshop series 

• Design review panel observations and interviews 

• Resident focus group sessions and site visits to research local development 
examples

• Targeted local government and industry/peak body meetings 

• Discussions with counterparts in New South Wales, Victoria and South 
Australia 

The Department and the WAPC have been working closely with the building 
and design industry and local governments to produce a clear and consistent 
policy for apartment design.  This will include specific guidance and relevant 
examples to make design policy more consistent among local governments.

Regional planning and infrastructure frameworks
The past year saw the completion of the suite of regional planning and 
infrastructure frameworks for the State. On behalf of the WAPC, the 
Department partners with the Regional Development Commissions, 
Regional Development Australia and local governments to prepare these 
documents.  The purpose of each framework is to establish a regional vision 
and basis for decision-making.  The frameworks also introduce a number of 
planning initiatives, which form the basis of an ongoing work program for the 
Department of Planning.  The following regions had their frameworks finalised 
in the past 12 months:

• Wheatbelt 

• Great Southern 

• South West 

• Kimberley 
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Stirling Highway modernisation 
Carefully considered and staged planning of activity centres and corridors 
around Perth and Peel will ensure that the metropolitan area develops in a 
contemporary and sustainable way. 

An amendment to the Metropolitan Region Scheme along a section of Stirling 
Highway will support the planning being undertaken on the Stirling Highway 
Activity Corridor.  This work is focused on ways to increase residential 
density in sections of Stirling Highway without wholesale increases to R-Code 
densities across the western suburbs.

Extensive liaison and consultation with stakeholders on issues including 
State and local heritage, congestion, and highway design has resulted in an 
amendment that reduces the size of the long-standing reservation by more 
than 25 hectares between Queen Victoria Street, North Fremantle and 
Broadway, Nedlands.  The amendment will mean the number and extent of 
properties impacted by the current reservation is significantly reduced in the 
areas of Claremont, Cottesloe, Nedlands and Peppermint Grove.

The objective of the rationalisation is a contemporary highway design 
accommodating pedestrians, cyclists, public transport users and associated 
infrastructure into the future.

Key benefits of the amendment include:

• Improved pedestrian, cycling, public transport and road safety infrastructure

• Consistency of road design

• Fewer individual dwellings affected (five per cent of adjacent dwellings will 
be impacted by proposed reservation, as opposed to 48 per cent affected 
by current reservation)

• Fewer State and local heritage listed buildings impacted by the proposed 
modification, when compared to the current reserve.

Initiatives such as the Perth and Peel@3.5 million suite of strategic documents 
provide guidance for local governments to plan for residential intensification of 
corridors such as Stirling Highway.

FAST FACT: 

Q. What is the Metropolitan Region Scheme?     
What constitutes a ‘reservation’?

A. Find out here at http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/1222.asp

Forrestfield Airport Link 
The Forrestfield Airport Link project will connect Forrestfield to the city, via 
Perth Airport, with a new train line, and opens up the eastern suburbs to the 
rail network.  The Forrestfield North District Structure Plan and Development 
Area 6 Vision Plan have been prepared by the Shire of Kalamunda and the 
City of Belmont respectively to guide future development of the Forrestfield 
and Belmont station precincts, with input from the Department of Planning.

Over the past year the Department has worked with the Public Transport 
Authority (PTA), City of Belmont and the Shire of Kalamunda to progress:

• A strategic planning framework for the Forrestfield Airport Link

• Planning control areas to enable the WAPC to determine development 
applications in land surrounding the two stations

• Structure plans for the Belmont and Forrestfield station precincts in 
collaboration with the affected local governments

• A project business case to proceed to Phase 2 for station precinct planning.

In February 2016, the PTA confirmed the Salini Impregilo-NRW Joint Venture 
as the preferred respondent for the main design and construct contract for 
the project.  The WAPC, being advised by the Department, will be responsible 
for determining development applications associated with the project.        
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The Department has been working closely with key stakeholders over a 
number of years on this project, which will improve connectivity between the 
eastern suburbs and Perth CBD. 

ePlan expansion
The Department of Planning continues to enhance the services we provide 
to streamline planning processes. Following the launch in 2015 of ePlan – 
online planning applications – this financial year has seen our online services 
further improved. In addition to online processing of freehold or survey strata 
subdivision/amalgamation applications, amendments and reconsiderations, the 
following Structure Plan and Activity Centre applications can now be lodged, 
including: 

• Preliminary advice request (local governments and proponents)

• Advertising notification (local governments only)

• Determination (local governments only)

• Modification (local governments and proponents)

• Amendment (local governments only)

• Extension of approval (local governments only)

• Further information (local governments only)

Subdivision applicants are able to register, upload their documentation, pay 
online (where applicable), and track application status via the new http://www.
planning.wa.gov.au/Online-lodgement.asp site.  Proponents of structure plans 
may also register and submit preliminary advice applications to Departmental 
planners via the structure plan option of Preliminary Advice Request. 



CASE STUDY 1 – CONSULTATION:    
Perth and Peel@3.5million
The draft strategic land use planning and infrastructure frameworks for the Central, 
North West, North East and South Metropolitan Peel sub-regions and the Perth 
and Peel@3.5million overarching document were developed by the Department 
of Planning on behalf of the WAPC to guide future development and infrastructure 
provision to accommodate 3.5 million people by 2050.

In keeping with the vision and intent of the 2010 strategic planning document, 
Directions 2031 and beyond, the draft frameworks proposed the development of 
a more compact and connected city.  They also reflected Directions 2031’s five 
key themes – liveable, prosperous, accessible, sustainable and responsible – that 
set the strategic direction to guide Government decision-making on land use and 
infrastructure planning.

With critical input from key State Government service providers, the draft 
frameworks offer a spatial plan to underpin appropriate and timely growth into 
the future.  The spatial plan has been developed in conjunction with, and provides 
the basis for the draft Perth and Peel Green Growth Plan for 3.5 million strategic 
environmental assessment and the draft Transport for 3.5 million to create 
an integrated, whole-of-government approach to accommodating a substantial 
population increase. 

The draft frameworks, released for public comment from May to July 2015, 
provided guidance on the future urban form of the Perth and Peel regions – where 
sustainable future residential, commercial and industrial development should occur; 
how to make best use of proposed and existing social, community and physical 
infrastructure; and how to preserve environmental attributes.

A second round of targeted consultations was offered to key stakeholders, including 
all 33 local governments across the Perth and Peel regions, State Government 
agencies and key industry bodies to allow agencies to update and/or clarify aspects 
of their submissions as required.

Over 1000 submissions were received through the public submission and second 
round consultations. The majority of these were specific to proposals within a 
particular subregion. 

Significant work has been undertaken to review all submissions to refine the 
frameworks which will be considered by the WAPC later in 2016.
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SERVICE 2: LAND ACCESSIBILITY PLANNING 
AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT

Perth Convention Precinct Master Plan 
In the past 12 months, the Department has continued to progress and 
further refine the development of the Perth Convention Precinct Master 
Plan and accompanying business case. Detailed technical analysis continues 
to be undertaken, including the design of architectural concepts, movement 
network modelling and concept design, servicing requirements and review of 
commercial transaction options. Liaison with stakeholders and precinct lessees 
has continued throughout. 

Planning across regional Western Australia
During the past year there were a number of achievements in the regional 
planning policy space. Many involved partnering and collaborating across 
government, community and industry. Key highlights included: 

• Review of State Planning Policy 2.5 - Land Use Planning in Rural Areas, to 
reflect increased pressure on land use in regional, remote and rural areas 

• Regional Centre Development Plan project support to the Department of 
Regional Development

• Multi-agency tourism development support to Tourism WA

• Regional Airports Development Scheme support to the Department of 
Transport.

• Sub-regional planning initiative coordination

• Aboriginal Land Based Economic Development scheme support to the 
Department of Regional Development.

Bushfire Policy framework
The Department developed a new bushfire State planning policy and together 
with Department of Fire and Emergency Services (DFES) updated the existing 
bushfire guidelines.  The Government’s reforms introduced new requirements 
for people intending to develop and/or build in bushfire prone areas, including 
the need to assess a property’s bushfire risk and take additional construction 
measures to limit the impact of bushfires. 

The new policy and guidelines provide important information on the land use 
planning requirements for developments within designated bushfire prone 
areas in Western Australia.  These designated areas are identified on the DFES 
Office of Bushfire Risk Management Map of Bush Fire Prone Areas.

The Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Amendment Regulations 
2015 introduced deemed provisions relating to bushfire into every local 
planning scheme across the State.  The LPS Amendment Regulations ensure that 
a Bushfire Attack Level (BAL) assessment is undertaken for new habitable 
buildings in a bush fire prone area (unless exemptions apply) and require 
development approval for habitable buildings and land uses on sites that 
receive a BAL-40 or BAL-Flame Zone (FZ) rating.

The reforms were designed in collaboration with the DFES, the Office of 
Bushfire Risk Management and the Building Commission, which is responsible 
for implementing the Building Code of Australia standards relevant to building 
permits.  The Department of Planning, in partnership with the Fire Protection 
Association Australia continues to provide training sessions to help inform 
stakeholders on these important changes.



CASE STUDY 2 – COLLABORATION:      
Supporting remote Aboriginal settlements
Remote settlements are important to the economic and social wellbeing of Western Australia.  The 
State Planning Strategy defines remote settlements to include informal towns, remote road houses, 
Aboriginal communities, workers’ camps, tourist camps and remote aerodromes. 

Although many remote settlements are essential to the State’s land and air transport networks, they 
do not have the supporting land tenure and servicing infrastructure that is typical of a town.  For this 
reason, remote settlements are acknowledged as a distinct element in the State Planning Strategy. 

On behalf of the WAPC, the Department has developed and implements a specific policy (State 
Planning Policy 3.2) relating to Aboriginal settlements, a key outcome of which is the preparation and 
maintenance of layout plans. Layout plans are a type of town plan that has been designed for those 
remote Aboriginal communities that have at least five houses and are supported by essential services 
provided by the State. 

The Department has an ongoing agreement with the Housing Authority to implement this policy, with 
achievements in the past year including:

• Coastal vulnerability and flood hazard assessment preparation for remote settlements in the Shire 
of Broome (Ardyaloon, Djarindjin/Lombadina, Beagle Bay, Bidyadanga) managed by the Department. 

• Flood hazard assessment preparation for remote settlements in the Shire of Halls Creek (Kundat 
Djaru and Billiluna) managed by the Department. 

• Drinking Water Source Protection Plans preparation for remote settlements in the Kimberley 
(Ngumpan, Joy Springs, Muludja, Kundat Djaru and Woolah) managed by the Department on behalf 
of the WAPC.

• Air photo image project managed by the Department.

Fast facts on Remote Settlements 
• There are up to 110 Aboriginal settlements in the remote regions of Western Australia. 

• There are more than 20 remote road houses in the remote regions of Western Australia.

• Most remote settlements are on Crown land. 

• Many remote settlements are on land that is subject to native title claim or determination.

For further information see the State Planning Strategy here      
http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/publications/6561.asp

Department of Planning  ANNUAL REPORT  2015/16 18



Department of Planning  ANNUAL REPORT  2015/16 19

New regulations to improve planning processes 
As part of the Government’s planning reform agenda, new regulations were 
introduced to streamline planning application processes. Coming into effect 
in October 2015, the Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) 
Regulations 2015 replace previous Town Planning Regulations. 

The new regulations affect local planning strategies, schemes and amendments 
with the aim of simplifying and expediting certain processes.   
Key improvements include:

• removal of the need for a development application to be submitted to a 
local government to construct a compliant single house.

• streamlined structure planning procedures for local councils and 
development proponents.

• the introduction of deemed provisions to the Model Scheme Text, for 
automatic inclusion in Local Planning Schemes (LPS), to improve LPS review 
and amendment processes for local governments.

• simpler template for local planning schemes with less legalistic language.

Western Australia has more than 150 different local planning schemes 
operating in local governments across the State.  This reform ensures a 
more consistent planning process across all schemes.  The Department 
provided training and assistance to the planning industry, including both 
local government and industry professionals, which helped to ensure a 
smooth transition.  A post-implementation review of the regulations is 
being undertaken to ensure ongoing consistency and responsiveness to 
stakeholders.

Strategic Assessment Perth and Peel Regions (SAPPR) 
The draft SAPPR was released for public comment in December 2015. 
Also known as the Perth and Peel Green Growth Plan for 3.5 million, this 
document has been prepared in parallel with the Perth and Peel@3.5 million 
suite of documents, to deliver a comprehensive and integrated land use and 
environmental plan. Once finalised, it will streamline environmental approval 
processes and provide greater certainty regarding where future development 
can occur and how environmental assets will be protected. 

As the largest urban-based strategic assessment undertaken in Australia 
to date, the SAPPR includes an area of 900,000 hectares and will provide 
170,000 hectares of new and expanded conservation reserves in the Perth, 
Peel, Wheatbelt and South West regions, while providing for the urban, 
industrial, rural-residential, infrastructure and basic raw materials land required 
to support a population of 3.5 million.

After a five month public consultation, which comprised more than 50 
tailored briefings to key stakeholders such as local government, industry and 
environmental groups, approximately 600 individual and over 3000 pro-forma 
submissions were received. 

The SAPPR addresses the Government’s agenda to streamline 
Commonwealth and State environmental approval processes, and is driving 
a high level of coordination regarding future development in the Perth and 
Peel regions.  The SAPPR process has seen Government progress towards 
delivering a comprehensive long-term approach for major environmental 
issues, including the Peel Harvey estuary, Carnaby’s cockatoos and threatened 
flora. For more information about this plan please view the Department for 
the Premier and Cabinet’s website at https://www.dpc.wa.gov.au/Consultation/
StrategicAssessment/Pages/Default.aspx.



CASE STUDY 3 –     
SUPPORTING WHOLE OF GOVERNMENT GOALS:  
Swan Valley Inquiry implementation
The Swan Valley, a unique and valued part of Perth’s natural and cultural 
landscape with substantial historical and cultural worth, is under 
increasing pressure from incompatible development and land use. 

In order to address this, the Swan Valley Development Plan was drafted 
on behalf of the State Government by the WAPC and new legislation 
prepared which intends to protect the rural character of the Swan Valley. 

Together, these aim to strengthen the legislative and governance 
framework for the Valley, and facilitate the development of a set of 
planning instruments that will enable informed and consistent decisions 
to be made regarding future land use and development.  This will 
support the ongoing role of agriculture through restricting subdivision 
on priority agricultural land and preserving rural zoned land for rural 
purposes. It also provides detailed guidance to enhance the quality and 
design of all new development, consistent with the desired character of 
the Swan Valley.

Both the Swan Valley Development Plan and the proposed Swan Valley 
Act will safeguard the rural and agricultural character of the Swan 
Valley for future generations, and encourage compatible hospitality and 
tourism activities.
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Supporting the WAPC
Much of the Department’s day-to-day work is in supporting the WAPC to 
fulfil its role, responsibilities and functions.  As such the Department provides 
professional and technical expertise, services and resources to advise the 
WAPC, and to implement decisions.

Accordingly this report should be read in conjunction with the WAPC Annual 
Report 2015/16.
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DAPs achievements and performance 
The nine Development Assessment Panels (DAPs) operating in metropolitan 
and regional Western Australia contribute to Government goal 3 with a focus 
on achieving results in key service delivery areas for the benefit of all Western 
Australians.  DAPs are responsible to the Minister for Planning, with support 
from the Department of Planning.  An overview of the DAPs application 
process can be found online at http://www.planning.wa.gov.au/Development-
Assessment-Panels.asp.

At a glance: Key DAPs facts and figures
The DAP Secretariat received 418 applications in 2015/16. 

These comprised:

• 226 development applications (Form 1)

• 146 applications for amendment (Form 2)

• 46 State Administrative Tribunal (SAT) appeals for review. 

• Of the 226 development applications received, 96 – over 40% – were opt-
in.  This figure is up from 37% in 2014/15.

• The applications received represent a total development value of just under 
$6.8 billion. 

Did you know?
• The value of Metro Central JDAP applications represents over a third of 

the value of all applications

• The combined value of Metro Central, Metro South-West and Mid-west/
Wheatbelt panel applications represents over three quarters of the total 
applications. 

AVERAGE TIME TAKEN FOR DAP 
APPLICATION 60 DAY 90 DAY
City of Perth LDAP 59 95
Metro Central JDAP 46 93
Metro East JDAP 89 88
Metro North-West JDAP 44 94
Metro South-West JDAP 39 96
Metro West JDAP – 95
Kimberley/Pilbara/Gascoyne JDAP 59 – 
Mid-West/Wheatbelt JDAP – 66
Southern JDAP 40 77

TOTAL 54 DAYS 88 DAYS

* The statutory timeframe for processing DAP applications is either 60 days, or 90 days 
where an application requires advertising by the local government. The timeframe may be 
extended at the request of the local government if additional information is required for 
the completion of the Responsible Authority Report.

 While the “stop-the-clock” mechanism pauses the statutory timeframe while further 
information is being provided, applications that are deferred at meetings do not not pause 
the timeframe and may impact on the data above.
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NATURE OF FORM 1 APPLICATIONS RECEIVED 2015/16

DAP Mandatory Optional 

City of Perth LDAP 9 3
Metro Central JDAP 36 31
Metro East JDAP 16 13
Metro North-West JDAP 25 17
Metro South-West JDAP 22 12
Metro West JDAP 9 9
Kimberley/Pilbara/Gascoyne JDAP 3 0
Mid-West/Wheatbelt JDAP 4 4
Southern JDAP 6 7

TOTAL 130 96

VALUE OF DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS

DAP
Total 

Development 
value

Form 1 
Application 

Fees

Form 2 
Application Fees

City of Perth LDAP   $82,500,000 $19,167 $450 
Metro Central JDAP $2,479,376,400 $351,071 $5,250 
Metro East JDAP $340,234,488 $143,759 $2,700 
Metro North-West JDAP $623,320,200 $224,887 $3,900 
Metro South-West JDAP $1,575,822,153 $188,481 $3,000 
Metro West JDAP $162,236,000 $89,312 $3,600 
Kimberley/Pilbara/Gascoyne JDAP $144,050,000 $39,400 $150 
Mid-West/Wheatbelt JDAP $1,165,000,000 $72,240 $2,250 
Southern JDAP $186,486,150 $64,761 $600 

GRAND TOTAL $6,759,025,391 $1,193,078 $21,900 

* Some fees for applications lodged during the 2015/16 financial year may not have been 
received in the period as local governments have 30 days to remit payment to the 
Department of Planning. Refunds for withdrawals of applications have not been included in 
this calculation.

APPLICATIONS STATUS 
2015/16

APPLICATIONS 
RECEIVED

APPLICATIONS 
APPROVED

APPLICATIONS 
REFUSED

APPLICATIONS 
WITHDRAWN

APPLICATIONS 
UNDETERMINED

FORM 
1

FORM 
2 SAT FORM 

1
FORM 

2 SAT FORM 
1

FORM 
2 SAT FORM 

1
FORM 

2 SAT FORM 
1

FORM 
2 SAT

City of Perth LDAP 12 15 0 12 16 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 4 3 0
Metro Central JDAP 67 35 21 36 29 8 16 3 8 4 0 0 32 16 20
Metro East JDAP 29 18 5 26 15 1 7 1 1 0 1 0 18 5 8
Metro North-West JDAP 42 26 8 33 22 6 6 0 6 2 2 0 24 10 7
Metro South-West JDAP 34 20 4 28 19 4 3 1 4 1 2 0 20 13 4
Metro West JDAP 18 24 8 17 19 4 5 0 4 1 1 0 14 14 8
Kimberley/Pilbara/Gascoyne JDAP 3 3 0 5 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0
Mid-West/Wheatbelt JDAP 8 1 0 5 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 1
Southern JDAP 13 4 0 13 3 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 3 1

* The number of applications approved, refused, withdrawn and undertermined within the 2015/16 period contains applications received during the previous financial year.
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Corporate governance 
The Department supports best practice in corporate governance.   
The following committees assist the Department in achieving good 
governance:

• Executive Management Committee

• Information Services Program Management Board

• Audit and Risk Management Committee

• Safety, Health and Wellness Committee.

In recognition of the importance of public sector agencies upholding 
high standards of ethics and conduct, whilst providing an environment of 
transparency and accountability, the Department maintains an Accountability 
Framework.  The Accountability Framework details the overarching policies, 
reporting processes, legislation and Government directives that govern the 
way we perform our duties.

The Department also maintains a Governance Guide for Managers which 
aims to build managers’ knowledge and understanding of governance and their 
responsibilities as public sector employees.  During 2015-16, work continued 
to streamline and review corporate policies and procedures. Key policies 
and procedures reviewed during the year related to the areas of conflicts of 
interest, information technology, complaints handling and risk management.

Risk management
In line with the Department’s Risk Management and Business Continuity Policy, 
the Department maintained a Strategic Risk Register during 2015-16.        
The Strategic Risk Register identifies a number of risks which have been 
assessed against the Department’s risk matrix. The register also details 
strategies to minimise the rating of each risk. 

Our values
Leadership 
We are accountable and responsible while inspiring others to lead

Integrity 
We act ethically and with integrity

Responsiveness 
We do our best to build awareness of stakeholder needs to anticipate 
and prepare solutions

Respect 
We treat each other with fairness, dignity and understanding

Innovation 
We encourage creativity and excellence

Collaboration 
We work collaboratively with our customers and stakeholders to 
achieve our goals and deliver a quality service 

MANAGING THE DEPARTMENT
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Audit and Risk Management 
Committee
The Department’s Audit and Risk Management Committee is a five 
member committee, comprising of four members of Corporate Executive.  
The Committee was established to assist the Accountable Authority (the 
Director General) to discharge her responsibilities under section 53 of the 
Financial Management Act 2006.  The aim of the Committee is to improve the 
credibility and objectivity of the Department’s accountability processes and 
governance practices. The Committee is chaired by the Director General, and 
a representative from the Office of the Auditor General (OAG) is invited to 
attend as an observer.

Internal audit 
In accordance with the requirements of the Financial Management Act 2006, 
the Internal Audit function provides an independent and objective assurance 
and consulting service to add value to the Department by improving 
organisation operations and business practices.

The annual audit plan for 2015-16, as approved by the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee, encompassed 11 reviews addressing financial, 
operations, asset management, human resources, governance and business 
improvement.  Some of the key reviews undertaken in 2015-16 included:

• Management of payroll;

• Lodgement and processing of planning applications;

• Corporate Key Performance Indicators;

• Complaints management and reporting; and

• Management of contaminated sites.

Recommendations from internal audit reviews are managed and monitored 
through the Department’s Audit Recommendation Management System. 
Progress reporting on the status of the Department’s implementation of audit 
recommendations occurs on a monthly basis to the Executive Management 
Committee.

External audit
During the year, the Department was included in a sample of agencies 
that were examined by the Office of the Auditor General (OAG) as 
part of their audit of payroll and other expenditure using data analytic 
procedures.  The OAG found no evidence of fraud, significant error or non-
compliance from their testing, however did identify a minor matter where the 
Department could improve its controls governing the use of PayPal facilities.  
The Department is in the process of developing appropriate policy and 
procedures for use by officers.

The recommendations emanating from any external audit reviews are 
managed and monitored through the Department’s Audit Recommendation 
Management System.  During 2015-16, progress reporting on the status of the 
Department’s implementation of external audit recommendations continued 
to be delivered to the Executive Management Committee on a monthly basis.
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making decisions that relate to undertaking their duties as public sector 
employees.  The Department’s 96 per cent compliance rate exceeds the 
minimum requirement of 85 per cent.

Graduate recruitment program
The Department welcomed nine new Graduate Planning Officers in February 
2016. Each graduate is undertaking rotations through a number of business 
divisions, followed by a further three-month rotation in a division of their 
choice.  The program runs for 18 months during which the graduates also 
have access to a range of learning and development initiatives designed to 
give them a balanced and holistic view of working as professional planners and 
public servants.

Learning and development
The Department has developed a Business Success Framework and 
Leadership Development Competency Framework. Building leadership 
capability is vital to ensuring the Department responds efficiently and 
effectively to current and emerging challenges.  The Department is committed 
to developing the leadership capability of all employees over the next three 
years. Effective leadership is a key determinant of employee engagement and 
an organisation’s ability to deliver on its strategic and operational priorities. 

Occupational safety and health
The Department of Planning is committed to providing a safe and healthy 
environment for staff. Employees are made aware of occupational safety 
and health (OSH) policies, procedures, guidelines and their duty of care at 
induction and via regular intranet broadcasts and a monthly HR newsletter.

Leading and developing our people
Employee profile 
The Department of Planning employs highly talented people who provide 
professional expertise in a broad range of planning services to the WAPC 
and the Minister for Planning.  We place a strong emphasis on supporting 
and developing our employees and provide an inclusive and collaborative 
workplace with a focus on achieving business outcomes. During 2015-16, 
the Department introduced a number of initiatives specifically aimed at 
embedding innovative and modern solutions that support our workforce.

Code of Conduct
All employees are expected to be aware of and abide by the Department 
of Planning’s Code of Conduct that sets out the key principles by which the 
Department operates.  The Department also has a comprehensive suite of 
Conflict of Interest documents that provide practical guidance on a range of 
ethical issues, and reinforce the Department’s commitment to transparency 
and accountability.

Accountable and Ethical Decision making (AEDM)
In 2015/16, 96 per cent of all Department employees received face to face 
training in accountable and ethical decision-making.  The training relates 
directly to planning decisions and processes as well as guiding employees 
in their role as public servants.  The AEDM training is delivered to all new 
starters as part of our Corporate Induction program that occurs every 6 
weeks. AEDM training helps to ensure our employees act with integrity when 
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The Department’s hazard reporting system simplifies the reporting of 
incidents and hazards for staff and streamlines the investigation process for 
incidents. OSH training for line managers and supervisors was also undertaken 
during the year.  The Safety Health and Wellness Committee meet quarterly, 
providing a mechanism for staff consultation on occupational health, safety and 
wellness matters.

The Department ensures compliance with the injury management 
requirements of the Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 
through its Injury Management System and by maintaining relationships with 
stakeholders such as RiskCover and various external medical practitioners.  
The focus is on returning injured staff to work as soon as possible through the 
development of effective return to work programs.

The Department continued to promote healthy living through wellness 
programs and the yearly influenza vaccination program.  In addition, two 
Department wellness initiatives were run during the year.  Mental health 
awareness programs for both managers and staff were conducted through the 
Department’s Employee Assistance Provider.

Figure 1: Occupational safety and health achievements 
against measures

MEASURE ACTUAL ACTUAL AGAINST 
TARGET

2013/14 2015/16 Target Department 
result

No. of fatalities 0 0 0 Achieved
Lost time injury/disease 
incidence rate 1.57 0.9 0 or 10% 

reduction N

Lost time injury/disease 
severity rate 0 25 0 or 10% 

reduction N

Percentage of injured 
workers returned to work: Greater than 

or equal to 
80%within 13 weeks 100 100 Y

within 26 weeks 100 100 Y
Percentage of managers 
trained in OSH and injury 
management 

64.8% 84%
Greater than 
or equal to 

80%
Y

Figure 2: Department of Planning employee status

EMPLOYEE TYPE 2014/15 2015/16

Permanent employees 439 438

Full-time equivalent (average) 431 435
Part-time employees 58 56
Fixed-term contracts 23 43
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DAIP Outcome 2:
People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to access 
the building and facilities of the Department.

Action:
• Lord Street entrance pedestrian footpath and other paths within Whiteman 

Park have been upgraded to improve access.

• The playground in the Whiteman Park Village was upgraded to now include 
wheelchair access, paths and ramps.

DAIP Outcome 3:
People with disability receive the same level of information from the 
Department in a format that will enable them to access information as readily 
as other people.

Action:
• The Department is currently reviewing its Intranet to ensure that it meets 

the needs of staff with disability by complying with level AA conformance 
to web content accessibility guidelines.

• The Department is progressing a review its Language Services Policy and 
Procedure in line with the Western Australian Language Services Policy 
2014 to ensure the provision of accessible, professional and responsive 
service to meet the needs of customers who are deaf or hard of hearing.

Managing our relationships
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2011-2015
The Department is committed to improving access and inclusion for all its 
customer groups and has continued to implement its Disability Access and 
Inclusion Plan (DAIP) 2011-15.  The Department’s 2016-2020 DAIP is nearing 
finalisaton. 

Below is a summary of how the Department improved access to its products, 
services and consultation processes for people with disability during the year :

DAIP Outcome 1:
People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to access 
the services of, and any events organised by, the Department.

Action:
• Whiteman Park organised for Transperth to provide a temporary daily 

bus service during the week arriving at Whiteman Park Visitor Information 
Centre at 10am and departing at 3pm.

• Whiteman Park participates in the Companion Card program, where free 
entry is available for carers when the card is shown at a number of Park 
attractions.
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DAIP Outcome 7:
People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to obtain 
and maintain employment with a public sector.

Action:
• The Department continued to review its recruitment and selection 

processes in order to encourage a diverse pool of applicants to apply and 
to ensure that the process is accessible to all.

• The Department ensured that staff and new employees with disability 
are provided with appropriate support and tools to undertake their 
employment responsibilities as specified in their position description. 

• The Department ensured that staff with disability are provided with 
appropriate development opportunities to meet longer-term plans for 
career development as part of the My Performance Plan review process 
which applies to all staff within the Department.

DAIP Outcome 4:
People with disability receive the same level and quality of service from 
employees of a public authority as other people receive.

Action:
• Twenty Whiteman Park staff and volunteers undertook Disability 

Awareness Training.

DAIP Outcome 5:
People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to make 
complaints to a public authority.

Action:
• The Department continued to improve its Complaints Handling processes 

to ensure that they are inclusive of people with disability.

DAIP Outcome 6:
People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to 
participate in any public consultation by the relevant public authority.

Action:
• The Department continued to review its stakeholder database to ensure 

that it includes key disability groups, and that they are involved in the 
Department’s consultation processes
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Substantive equality
The Department is committed to ensuring its services meet the needs of 
people from culturally and linguistically diverse (CaLD) and Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander backgrounds. During 2015-16, the Department focussed 
on implementing the outcomes of the following reviews:

• Review of Customer Service at Whiteman Park – Substantive Equality 
Assessment 2011-12

• Review of the Regional Settlements Program Consultation Process – 
Substantive Equality Assessment 2012-13.

Both reviews were finalised in 2015-16 and have resulted in these 
departmental services better meeting the different needs of Western 
Australia’s diverse community.  The Department continues to undertake 
regular reviews of policies and procedures affecting our Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander stakeholders and those from CaLD groups.  The Department 
also ensures that all new policies, services and major initiatives are assessed for 
their impact on those stakeholders.

The Department is committed to playing a role in fostering reconciliation with 
Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal Australians. Initiatives within the Department’s 
Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) 2013-15 have been implemented and 
continue to be monitored and refined as necessary.  The Department 
participated in both NAIDOC and Reconciliation Week observances.  Key 
achievements during the year include:

• Implementation of strategies to come out of a substantive equality 
assessment of the Department’s Regional Settlements Program

• Ongoing management and delivery of the Regional Settlements program 
on behalf of the WAPC.

Freedom of Information
The Department and the Western Australian Planning Commission are 
considered one organisation for matters under the Freedom of Information 
Act 1992 (the FOI Act).  The Department is responsible for processing FOI 
applications for both agencies, with the Assistant Director General, Business 
and Corporate Support, as the designated decision-maker. 

During 2015/16, the Department received 121 FOI applications.  Of these, 
eight applications were subject to internal review, two were subject to 
external review and one application was transferred to another agency.

Managing our resources
Recordkeeping
During 2015/16 the Department and the Western Australian Planning 
Commission continued to be committed to good recordkeeping under the 
requirements of the State Records Act 2000.  The Department’s Recordkeeping 
Plan (2012) detailing legacy recordkeeping policies, procedures and practices 
was approved by the State Records Office on 30 August 2012. 

• The Department uses Objective as its Electronic Document and Records 
Management System, which allows it to deal with digital as well as paper 
records within an integrated environment.

• All new staff must attend an Objective training session. Follow-up assistance is 
available through the Department’s Help Desk and a Training and Support officer.

• An online Record Keeping Awareness Training course is mandatory for all 
employees.  At 24 May 2016, 87 per cent of the Department’s employees 
had completed the course.  A refresher course is to be completed by 
employees every two years.

• Training assessment is integrated into the package and feedback from those 
who have completed the course is reviewed.
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ADVERTISING AND MARKETING EXPENDITURE

Department of Planning

Advertising agencies nil

Direct mail organisations nil

Market research organisations nil

Media advertising organisations: Adcorp $7,847

Polling organisations nil

TOTAL $7,847

Governance and other disclosures
Ministerial directives
In accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 903(12), the Department of 
Planning received no Ministerial directives in 2015/16.

Pricing policies for services provided
The supply of goods and services undertaken by the Department of Planning 
represent works undertaken for the State Government and/or Western 
Australian Planning Commission on a cost recovery basis. Further details are 
available in the Financial Statements.

Probity

Contracts with senior officers
At 30 June 2016, other than normal contracts of employment of service, 
no senior officers, firms of which senior officers are members, or entities in 
which senior officers have substantial interests, had any interests in existing or 
proposed contracts with the Department of Planning.

Advertising and marketing expenditure
In accordance with section 175 ZE of the Electoral Act 1907 the Department 
of Planning incurred the following expenditure with advertising, market 
research, polling, direct mail and media advertising. 



CASE STUDY 4 –     
A SKILLED, CAPABLE AND ADAPTIVE WORKFORCE

Graduate program brings fresh perspectives
In early 2016, the Department of Planning developed a graduate program 
designed to attract recently qualified planners to the agency.    
The program has been designed for graduates to develop practical, on 
the job experience to operate as professional planners and is balanced 
with a comprehensive learning and development program to complement 
technical skill. 

The graduates have access to a range of learning and development 
initiatives designed to provide them a holistic view of working as 
professional planners and public servants. Each Graduate Planning 
Officer undertakes rotations through a range of business areas across 
the Department, offering them the opportunity to be immersed in the 
business of planning from many perspectives.

Graduate Planning Officer Jess Leitao said the graduate program had been a great 
opportunity to experience the wide scope of the Department and gain experience 
in different skill areas. 

“I’ve appreciated that we’ve been able to meaningfully contribute to the teams we 
are placed in and assist with the daily functioning of the Department even though 
we are still being trained,” said Jess.

“Every team has been understanding, supportive and welcoming. The diversity of 
the graduate program has allowed us to explore our different interests and begin to 
shape the direction of our careers.”

Leadership in the limelight
Building leadership capability is vital to ensuring the Department responds effectively 
to current and emerging challenges. In the past year, the Department has developed 
and launched a Leadership Development Framework.  The comprehensive framework 
involves the delivery of customised, multi-tiered programs that address the training 
needs and leadership aspirations of a broad cross-section of staff. 

The inaugural Living Leadership (middle management) course was delivered in 
March 2016, with the participants required to develop ‘real life’ projects that will be 
implemented across the Department. 

The development of a skilled, capable and adaptive current and future workforce is a 
key outcome identified within the Department’s strategic plan 2015-2017. Investing 
in leadership today means our people are suitably equipped to provide stable 
stewardship of the Department’s significant agenda in the coming years.

Department of Planning graduate intake 2016
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Major capital projects
Details of major capital projects at 30 June 2016 in accordance with 
Treasurer’s Instruction 903 Section 13) (ii) (a) (b) are listed in the table below.

Projects remaining incomplete

PROJECT NAME
EXPECTED YEAR OF 

COMPLETION
ESTIMATED COST 

TO COMPLETE 
$’000

ESTIMATED TOTAL 
COST OF PROJECT 

$’000

Department of Planning

Accommodation Refurbishment 2022/23 2,343 6,022

Information & Communications Technology Infrastructure 2022/23 14,898 30,342

Minor Works Program 2022/23 6,359 20,123

Oakajee Narngulu Infrastructure Corridor 2017/18 39,510 39,510

Perry Lakes Redevelopment Project 2016/17 900 149,451



3 Pilbara office
3-5 Welcome Road
Karratha WA 6714

Phone: 9159 6910

4 Mid West office
Level 2, 209 Foreshore Drive
Geraldton WA 6530

Phone: 9960 6999

6 South West office
6th floor, Bunbury Tower, 61 Victoria Street,
Bunbury WA 6230

Phone: 9791 0577

7 Great Southern office
178 Stirling Terrace
Albany WA 6330

Phone: 9892 7333

5 Peel office
Unit 2B, 11–13 Pinjarra Road
Mandurah WA 6210

Phone: 9586 4680

8 Whiteman Park
Lord Street
Whiteman WA 6068

Phone: 9209 6000
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Where to find us

Head office     
Department of Planning
Gordon Stephenson House
140 William Street
Perth WA 6000

Phone: +61 8 6551 9000

Fax: +61 8 6551 9001

Website: www.planning.wa.gov.au

Email: corporate@planning.wa.gov.au

8

2 Kimberley office
Unit 23 Shiba Lane Offices
Broome WA 6725

Phone: 9194 4900

2

7

3

4

6

5
1

1
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APPENDICES

GAIL MCGOWAN

Director General

Gail McGowan was appointed Director 
General of the Department of Planning 
in April 2014.

Since taking on the role, a key priority 
has been ensuring that the State Government and WAPC’s 
comprehensive planning reform agenda is delivered.

Ms McGowan has overseen the development by 
the Department of Planning of the WAPC’s suite of 
draft strategic land use planning documents, Perth and 
Peel@3.5million.

A highly regarded leader and negotiator across industry, 
government and the wider community, she has previously 
held senior positions at the Department of State 
Development and Worksafe.

Ms McGowan is a Graduate of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors and member of Chief Executive 
Women of Australia.

DAVID SAUNDERS
Assistant Director General, 
Regional Planning and 
Strategy

David Saunders joined the Department 
in October 2007 after working in local 
government, State and Commonwealth 
public sector roles in WA, Queensland and NSW.

Mr Saunders has worked in senior roles with the NSW 
government in the planning and operation of the Sydney 
Olympic Games.  He has also held senior positions with 
the Australian and Queensland governments in the 
planning and gazettal of the statutory and strategic plan of 
management for the Wet Tropics World Heritage Area in 
North Queensland.

Mr Saunders’ current role includes the strategic and 
statutory planning for regional WA, with a focus on 
implementing the endorsed planning and infrastructure 
frameworks for each of the eight planning regions across 
the State.

SUE BURROWS

Assistant Director General, 
Perth and Peel Planning

Sue Burrows joined the Department 
of Planning as its first Independent 
Planning Reviewer, in 2010. In that role 
she provided assessment and advice 
on planning process matters to both the Department and 
the Western Australian Planning Commission, as well as 
independent counsel on planning applications to consultants, 
developers, local government and other stakeholders.

In her current role, Ms Burrows is responsible for 
metropolitan planning across the Perth and Peel regions, 
operational policy coordination and planning administration.

Ms Burrows has extensive strategic and statutory planning 
knowledge and experience, which includes more than 
25 years across five local governments. She has dealt 
with diverse planning issues from structure planning and 
Greenfield subdivisions to inner city developments.

Appendix 1: Corporate Executive composition
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LORISSA KELLY

Assistant Director General, 
Business and Corporate 
Support

Lorissa Kelly joined the Department 
of Planning in December 2015 as 
Assistant Director General, Business and 
Corporate Support. Ms Kelly recently obtained a Masters 
of Public Administration from the Australia and New 
Zealand School of Government and also holds a Bachelor 
of Commerce with First Class Honours.

Ms Kelly has worked in senior roles across the public 
service, including at the Department of the Premier and 
Cabinet, Office of the Public Standards Commissioner and 
Department of Industry and Resources. She has also played 
a role in advising Government at a senior level through 
secondment as a ministerial Chief of Staff for more than 
four years. 

In her current role, Ms Kelly leads the Department’s 
corporate operations, including audit and risk management, 
financial management, information management and legal 
services, as well as the WAPC’s significant property and land 
portfolio.

DAVID MACLENNAN

Assistant Director General, 
Policy and Priority 
Initiatives

David MacLennan joined the 
Department of Planning in March 2015. 

He is an experienced public sector leader and served 
in various roles in the Commonwealth Government in 
Australia and overseas.  This included diplomatic postings 
with the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade (DFAT) 
in London, Lima, Mexico City and Papua New Guinea.

Prior to joining the Department of Planning, Mr MacLennan 
held the position of Head of the Political and Economic 
Branch at the Australian High Commission in London.  
Prior to that, Mr MacLennan was DFAT’s State Director in 
Western Australia.

He holds a Masters in Management from the Australian 
National University and a Bachelor of Arts from the 
University of WA.

In his current role, Mr MacLennan provides strategic 
direction for land use and infrastructure planning, policy and 
projects in Western Australia.
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Appendix 2: Remuneration for committee members 2015/16

DAP SPECIALIST MEMBERS �� FEES

Adair, Megan Anne 21,800

Addison, Peter Eric Thomas 11,650

Antill, Christopher Phillip 18,000

Birch, Ian Thomas 47,050

Brando, Roland Daniel 400

Butterly, Vernon Selby 800

Casella, Anthony 4,900

Chaffer, Sheryl Margaret 14,050

Crabtree, John Arthur 400

Curtis, Brian 6,650

D'Alessandro, Luigi 24,900

Dick, Patrick Gordon Stuart 6,100

Drechsler, Paul John 21,950

Gray, David 6,000

Hardy, Michael John 1,650

Higham, Clayton Morris 43,350

Hyde, Karen Suzanne 25,800

Johnson, Charles Ross Shopland 34,200

Jurmann, Jacqueline 400

Koltasz, Eugene 18,200

Kotsoglo, Paul Basil 3,700

Lee, Peter Hugh 2,600

McDowall, James Kent 800

Nicholson, Robert Charles 11,800

LOCAL GOVERNMENT DAP MEMBERS � FEES

Adamos, Jim 3,000

Alexander, Ruth Elizabeth 800

Allen, Kevin John 2,100

Ammon, Valerie Joy 800

Angers, Philip 800

Arbuckle, Scott Trevor  50

Aspinall, Michael  800

Aubrey, Rebecca 1,600

Ballard, Leigh Norman 800

Barrett, Wayne 400

Bavich, Dean Robert 400

Bennett, Michael Theodore 450

Bertola, Patrick Bruno 400

Best, Terrence John  2,000

Birnbrauer, Jay Spencer 800

Bissett, John Gregory 1,350

Black, Jessica Elizabeth Madig 800

Boothman, David 8,100

Bradley, Rodney William 800

Brennan, Gary Peter 400

Bridges, Paul 450

Brown, Julie 3,700

Buckels, Matthew Christopher 50

Butler, Robert John 2,850

Cala, Colin Anthony 5,700

Campbell, Blair David 2,450

Carbone, Craig Phillip 400

DAP SPECIALIST MEMBERS �� FEES

Syme, John Ken 11,650

Towne, Stacey Darriel 8,100

Zuideveld, Freerk 17,400

TOTAL 364,300

�	DAP Specialist Members may sit on more than one panel 
and fees can include payment for State Administrative 
Tribunal Mediations, Hearings and Reconsiderations.

�	DAP Member payments are based on a cost recovery 
model from DAP Application Fees
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LOCAL GOVERNMENT DAP MEMBERS � FEES

Hall, Margaret 400

Hamilton-Prime, Christine Loui 200

Hatwell, Dean William 400

Hawkins, Sandra Violae 1,700

Hawkins-Zeeb, Sharron 1,650

Hayes, John Keith 850

Haynes, Bruce Thomas 50

Haynes, Maria 1,250

Henley, Grant Douglas 1,600

Hipkins, Richard Maxwell 400

Hoffman, Ronald Francis 1,600

Hohnen, Charles Austen 400

Hortin, Alan William 400

House, Keith Henry 400

Houwen, Arnold Bartholomew 2,050

Howlett, Kelly 900

Hughes, Desmond Arnold 400

Italiano, Giovanni  7,800

Jackson, Tania Gae 400

Jacob, Gloria Ann 450

Jeanes, Peter Ross 400

Karamfiles, Sam  400

Kennaugh, Kylie Suzanne 800

Kenyon, Terence Gilbert 2,100

King, Tracey 800

Knight, Caroline 2,100

Kulisa, Judith Carole 450

LOCAL GOVERNMENT DAP MEMBERS � FEES

Lavell, David Anthony 800

Lee, Darren George 2,100

Limnios, Dimitrious  1,700

Macrae, Corinne Marie 2,400

Malicky, Lisa Janine 50

Marks, Philip  7,000

Martin, Sian Lilian 400

Matheson, Julie 2,150

McCleary, Betty Maxine 1,200

McKinley, Craig David 400

McLennan, Renee Joy 400

McPhail, Michael 800

Mitchell, Ronald  4,100

Moore, Bruce Herbert 450

Munn, Jeff Harold 400

Norman, Michael John 500

Norton, Greg James 50

O'Connor, Pauline 2,000

Oliver, Brian 850

Omodei, Paul Domenic 400

Parasiliti, Daniel Sebastian 5,250

Pazolli, Nicholas  850

Pease, Ronald William 400

Pedler, Ian Douglas 800

Pemberton, Rachel Gwen 2,450

Pendal, Allan Edward 400

Pollock, Brett Richard 450

LOCAL GOVERNMENT DAP MEMBERS � FEES

Carey, John Newton 2,400

Carter, Jennifer Margaret 800

Chester, John  4,150

Clements, Kenneth Arthur 50

Clements, Paul  1,350

Cole, Emma Michelle 400

Collinson, Clifford Jack 1,200

Congerton, Melvyn Paul 2,050

Cook, Murray Francis 800

Cornish, Michael Christopher 2,950

Cridland, Glenn Michael 3,650

Cvitan, Srecko Frank 6,950

Daccache, George Joseph 100

Davies, Wesley Rosslyn 50

Dias, Doughlas Ivan 50

Downes, Katrina 800

Downham, Lee Warren 1,200

Driver, Russell 6,400

Earl, Ian  400

Elliott, Christopher Stephen 1,650

Erren, John William 800

Fleay, Scott Francis 400

Fleay, Veronica May 1,200

Foxton, Nicole Kathleen 4,550

Geary, Mark 400

Gobbert, Liam James 400

Goode, David Nicholas 400



Department of Planning  ANNUAL REPORT  2015/16 39

LOCAL GOVERNMENT DAP MEMBERS � FEES

Portelli, Steven Anthony 3,700

Potter, Vicki Leanne 2,650

Pule, Gerard Anthony 400

Reeve-Fowkes, Carol Ann  1650

Reid, Matthew Paul 400

Rich, Michelle Jayne 800

Rico, Maria 400

Robinson, Peter Stanley 450

Rossi, Roberto  6,550

Rumble, Linton Stanley 1,650

Rumjantsev, Ulo 400

Scaffidi, Lisa-Michelle 2,150

Schuster, Cameron John 3,650

Shaw, Nigel Warren 400

Short, Lawrence Charles 50

Smith, Richard Radden 1,200

Smith, Stephanie 400

Smythe, Denese Eileen 400

Stewart, Joy Margaret 2,050

Strachan, Jon Robert 4,100

Stroud, Stephanie 800

Stubbs, Ian William 400

Sullivan, Andrew Charles 4,900

Tarrant, Pauline Michelle 2,400

Taylor, Philippa Ann 2,650

Thomas, Rachel Louise 400

Topelberg, Joshua Aaron 6,200

SWAN VALLEY PLANNING COMMITTEE

Gaudet, Joseph Alain 1,800

Gratte, Henry Victor 900

Griffiths, John David 1,500

Henderson, Rodney Keith 1,050

Hunt, Brian Atlee 1,200

Lovreta, Jim Anthony 1,350

Taylor, Elizabeth 1,800

Tomlinson, Derrick Gordon 2,200

Trease, Darryl Raymond 1,970

Vuleta, Keith John 1,200

Zannino, Cosimo 820

TOTAL 15,790

LOCAL GOVERNMENT DAP MEMBERS � FEES

Trease, Darryl Raymond 5,700

Tulloch, Alastair George 50

Walsh, John Francis 850

Wellington, Dennis William 450

White, Kerry Marlene 450

Willox, Rodney Mervyn 2,850

Wilson, Gary William 400

Withers, Simon John 2,000

Wood, Dennis Cleve 2,100

Wood, Sherilyn Ivy 900

Wright, Keith David 400

Yuryevich, Ronald Stanley 50

Zannino, Cosimo 850

Zelones, Henry Anthony 400

TOTAL 225,550

�	DAP Member payments are based on a cost recovery 
model from DAP Application Fees
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2016

2016 2015
Note $ 000 $ 000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense 6 54,966 51,704
Supplies and services 7 21,578 21,877
Depreciation and amortisation expense 8 2,225 2,063
Accommodation expenses 9 6,577 6,332
Grants and subsidies expense 10 4,426 4,696
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 11 - 7
Other expenses 12 8,446 1,286
Total cost of services 98,218 87,965

Income
Revenue
User charges and fees 13 1,257 1,449
Grants and subsidies revenue 14 1,793 868
WAPC service delivery agreement revenue 15 38,773 44,481
Other revenues 16 165 13
Total revenue 41,988 46,811

Total income other than income from State Government 41,988 46,811

NET COST OF SERVICES 56,230 41,154

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 17
Service appropriation 40,931 46,070
Services received free of charge 2,367 2,826
Royalties for Regions Fund 3,605 5,443
Total income from State Government 46,903 54,339

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD (9,327) 13,185

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD (9,327) 13,185

See also the 'Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service'.

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Department of Planning
Development Assesment Panels
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2016

2016 2015
Note $ 000 $ 000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 18 20,621 16,390
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 19 819 3,546
Receivables 20 5,264 17,080
Other assets 21 716 697
Total Current Assets 27,420 37,713

Non-Current Assets
Amounts receivable for services 22 16,326 15,788
Plant and equipment 23 1,868 1,144
Intangible assets 24 6,425 6,593
Total Non-Current Assets 24,619 23,525

TOTAL ASSETS 52,039 61,238

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 26 3,104 4,522
Provisions 27 10,300 10,773
Other liabilities 28 3 5
Total Current Liabilities 13,407 15,300

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions 27 2,382 2,190
Total Non-Current Liabilities 2,382 2,190

TOTAL LIABILITIES 15,789 17,490

NET ASSETS 36,250 43,748

EQUITY 29
Contributed equity 16,162 14,333
Accumulated surplus 20,088 29,415
TOTAL EQUITY 36,250 43,748

See also the 'Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service'.

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Department of Planning
Development Assesment Panels



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Department of Planning  ANNUAL REPORT  2015/16 8

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Contributed 
equity

 Accumulated 
surplus  Total  equity 

Note $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

Balance at 1 July 2014 29 11,534 16,230 27,764

Surplus/(deficit) - 13,185 13,185
Total comprehensive income for the period - 13,185 13,185

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriation 2,799 - 2,799

Total 2,799 - 2,799

Balance at 30 June 2015 14,333 29,415 43,748

Balance at 1 July 2015 14,333 29,415 43,748
Surplus/(deficit) - (9,327) (9,327)

Total comprehensive income for the period 14,333 20,088 34,421

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriation 1,829 - 1,829

Total 1,829 - 1,829

Balance at 30 June 2016 16,162 20,088 36,250

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Department of Planning
Development Assesment Panels
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2016

2016 2015
Note $ 000 $ 000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 40,393 45,905
Capital appropriations 1,829 2,799
Royalty for Regions Fund 3,605 5,443
Net cash provided by State Government 45,827 54,147

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits (56,169) (49,857)
Supplies and services (18,525) (17,946)
Accommodation (6,566) (6,322)
Grants and subsidies (5,323) (3,578)
GST payments on purchases (3,098) (2,715)
Other payments (2,242) (736)

Receipts
Sale of goods and services 1,257 1,450
Grants and subsidies 1,793 979
GST receipts on sales 131 52
GST receipts from taxation authority 3,094 2,286
WAPC service delivery agreement receipts 43,781 36,905
Other receipts 161 15
Net cash used in operating activities 30(b) (41,706) (39,467)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of non-current physical assets (2,617) (2,275)
Net cash used in investing activities (2,617) (2,275)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,504 12,405
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 19,936 7,531
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 30(a) 21,440 19,936

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Department of Planning
Development Assesment Panels
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Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service
For the year ended 30 June 2016

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense 23,781 20,516 31,185 31,188 54,966 51,704
Supplies and services 8,863 7,339 12,715 14,538 21,578 21,877
Depreciation and amortisation expense 1,016 830 1,209 1,233 2,225 2,063
Accommodation expenses 2,830 2,453 3,747 3,879 6,577 6,332
Grants and subsidies 4,186 4,143 240 553 4,426 4,696
Loss on disposal of non-current assets - - - 7 - 7
Other expenses 3,392 387 5,054 899 8,446 1,286
Total cost of services 44,068 35,668 54,150 52,297 98,218 87,965

Income
User charges and fees 14 2 1,243 1,447 1,257 1,449
Grants and subsidies revenue 1,655 400 138 468 1,793 868
WAPC service delivery agreement 8,859 9,572 29,914 34,909 38,773 44,481
Other revenue 31 6 134 7 165 13
Total income other than income from State 
Government 10,559 9,980 31,429 36,831 41,988 46,811

NET COST OF SERVICES 33,509 25,688 22,721 15,466 56,230 41,154

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 18,678 18,510 22,253 27,560 40,931 46,070
Services received free of charge 1,080 2,187 1,287 3,256 2,367 5,443
Royalties for Regions Fund 1,645 1,135 1,960 1,691 3,605 2,826
Total income from State Government 21,403 21,832 25,500 32,507 46,903 54,339

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Integrated land and 
infrastructure policy 

development

Land accessibility 
planning and policy 

development Total

Department of Planning
Development Assesment Panels
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Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service
As at 30 June 2016

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

ASSETS
Current Assets 12,512 15,152 14,908 22,561 27,420 37,713
Non-current Assets 11,234 9,452 13,385 14,073 24,619 23,525
TOTAL ASSETS 23,746 24,604 28,293 36,634 52,039 61,238

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities 6,118 6,148 7,290 9,152 13,408 15,300
Non-current Liabilities 1,087 880 1,295 1,310 2,382 2,190
TOTAL LIABILITIES 7,205 7,028 8,585 10,463 15,790 17,491

NET ASSETS 16,541 17,576 19,708 26,172 36,249 43,748

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

 Total 

Integrated land and 
infrastructure policy 

development

 Land accessibility 
planning tenure and 
policy development 

Department of Planning
Development Assesment Panels



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Department of Planning  ANNUAL REPORT  2015/16 12

Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates
For the year ended 30 June 2016

2016 2016 2016 2015
Estimate Actual Variance Actual Actual Variance

$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000
DELIVERY OF SERVICES
Item 34 Net amount appropriated to deliver services 41,626 40,741 (885) 40,741 45,587 (4,846)
Section 25 Transfer of Service Appropriation
   - Department of Transport - (383) (383) (383) - (383)
   - Department of Finance - 90 90 90 - 90
Amount authorised by other statutes:
  - Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 483 483 - 483 483 -
Total appropriations provided to deliver services 42,109 40,931 (1,178) 40,931 46,070 (5,139)

CAPITAL
Item 124 Capital contribution  12,473 1,829 (10,644) 1,829 2,799 (970)
Total capital contribution 12,473 1,829 (10,644) 1,829 2,799 (970)

GRAND TOTAL 54,582 42,760 (11,822) 42,760 48,869 (6,109)

Details of expenses by services
Integrated land and infrastructure policy development 38,110 44,068 5,958 44,068 35,667 8,401
Land accessibility planning and policy development 55,362 54,150 (1,212) 54,150 52,298 1,852
Total cost of services  93,472 98,218 4,746 98,218 87,965 10,253
Less:  Total income  49,148 41,988 (7,160) 41,988 46,811 (4,823)
Net cost of services 44,324 56,230 11,906 56,230 41,154 15,076
Adjustments (2,215) (15,299) (13,084) (15,299) 4,916 (20,215)
Total appropriations provided to deliver services 42,109 40,931 (1,178) 40,931 46,070 (5,139)

Capital expenditure
Purchase of non-current assets  13,845 2,617 (11,228) 2,617 2,275 342
Capital appropriations 13,845 2,617 (11,228) 2,617 2,275 342

DETAILS OF INCOME ESTIMATES
Income disclosed as Administered Income  41 23 (18) 23 119 (96)

Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation.

Note 35 'Explanatory statement' and Note 43 'Explanatory statement for Administered Items' provide details of any significant 
variations between estimates and actual results for 2016 and between the actual results for 2016 and 2015.
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1

2

(a)

(b) Basis of preparation

Where modification is required and has a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details
of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost
convention, except for land which has been measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied
throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
dollars ($ 000).

In the process of reporting the Department as a single entity, all intra entity transactions and balances have been
eliminated.

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

For the year ending 30 June 2016
Notes to the Financial Statements

The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101
Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements . Partial exemption permitting early
adoption of AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-
Profit Public Sector Entities has been granted. Aside from AASB 2015-7, there has been no early adoption of any
Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended (but not operative) by the Department for the
annual reporting period ended 30 June 2016.

Early adoption of standards

Summary of significant accounting policies

General statement

The Department is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other
authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of these are
modified by the Treasurer’s instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording. 

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s instructions impose legislative provisions that govern
the preparation of financial statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the
Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian
Accounting Standards Board.

Australian Accounting Standards

The Department’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2016 have been prepared in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ includes Standards and
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB).

The Department has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their
operative dates.

General

Department of Planning
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(c)

(d)

(e)

Reporting entity

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is
recognised for the major business activities as follows:

Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.

Sale of goods

Service 2: Land accessibility planning and policy development

Mission

Services

This service contributes to the State by ensuring that sufficient land is available for purchase for both residential
and commercial purposes, by minimising land supply delays, controlling lot sizes and therefore the costs of
infrastructure required to service each lot and providing resources to the Western Australian planning Commission.

The Department administers assets, liabilities, income and expenses on behalf of Government which are not
controlled by, nor integral to the functions of the Department. These administered balances and transactions are
not recognised in the principal financial statements of the Department but schedules are prepared using the same
basis as the financial statements and are presented at note 42 Disclosure of Administered income and expenses
by service  and note 44 Administered assets and liabilities .

Contributed equity

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires
transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative
arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior
to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations have been
designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector
Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.

The transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative
arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-
reciprocal.  See note 29 Equity .

Income

The reporting entity comprises the Department.  

The Department’s purpose is to provide leadership in land use planning in Western Australia.

The Department provides the following services:

Service 1: Integrated land and infrastructure policy development

Integrated land use and transport systems contribute to the State by shaping the pattern of development and
influencing the location, scale, density, design and mix of land uses.

Department of Planning
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(f)

(g)

Service appropriations

Net appropriation determination

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions

Initial recognition and measurement
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.

For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the
date of acquisition.

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal
of non‑current assets and some revaluations of non‑current assets.

Borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

Items of property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising
assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, plant and equipment costing less than
$5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Borrowing costs

Property, plant and equipment 

Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Development Assessment Panels, Services provided to the Commonwealth for Indian Ocean Territories Program, 
Planning for Aboriginal Communities from the Department of Housing, recoups for services provided to the 
Western Australian Planning Commission and other revenue.

Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Department obtains control over the assets comprising the
contributions, usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value.
Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would
be purchased if not donated.

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the Department obtains
control over the funds. The Department obtains control of the funds at the time the funds are deposited into the
Department’s bank account.

Revenue is recognised by the stage of completion of the transaction.

The revenue from other operating activities including provision of services and the sale of assets are recognised
when the Department has passed control of the goods or other assets or delivery of the services to the customer.
Recoups of operating activities are recognised when invoiced.  

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

Provision of services

Interest

Service appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the Department gains
control of the appropriated funds. The Department gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are
deposited into the Department’s bank account or credited to the Amounts receivable for services (holding account)
held at Treasury.  See note 16 Income from State Government for further detail.

The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed receipts to be retained for services under the
control of the Department.  In accordance with the most recent determination, as quantified in the 2015-16  Budget 
Statements, the Department retained  $49.15 million in 2016 ($47.75 million in 2015) from the following:

Gains
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3 to 7 years
3 to 10 years
3 to 5 years

(h)

3 to 10 years
3 years

Software not integral to the operation of related hardware
Licences

Intangible assets

Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Land is not depreciated.  Assets under construction are not depreciated until commissioned. 

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing $5,000
or more are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful life. Costs
incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is
their fair value at the date of acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit
(estimated useful life) on the straight line basis using rates which are reviewed annually. All intangible assets
controlled by the Department have a finite useful life and zero residual value.  

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in
a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight line method, using rates
which are reviewed annually.  Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are:

Computer hardware
Refurbishments, furniture and fittings
Office equipment

The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use
basis to assets and in determining estimated useful life. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where
the evidence does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets.

Derecognition

Asset revaluation surplus

Depreciation

Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, any revaluation surplus relating to that 
asset is retained in the asset revaluation surplus.

The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current
assets on a class of asset basis.

Subsequent to initial recognition of an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land and
historical cost for all other property, plant and equipment. Land is carried at fair value less accumulated
impairment losses. All other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Subsequent measurement

Department of Planning
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(i)

(j) Leases

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment at the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the
present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have
no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-based evidence. Where fair
value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and
the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end of
each reporting period.

See note 25 Impairment of assets  for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing.
See note 2(o) Receivables  and note 20 Receivables for impairment of receivables .

The Department holds operating leases for head office and a number of branch office buildings, motor vehicles
and office equipment. Lease payments are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this
represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased properties.

Impairment of assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each
reporting period. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the
recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the
recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. Where an asset measured at cost is written down to
recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Where a previously revalued asset is
written down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement in other comprehensive
income. As the Department is a not‑for‑profit entity, unless a specialised asset has been identified as a surplus
asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement
cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially
understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in the useful life. Each
relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the
level of consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from 
falling replacement costs.

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as property, plant and equipment. Software
that is not an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as an intangible asset. Software costing less than
$5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition.  

Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Computer software

Licenses

Department of Planning
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(k)

(l)

(m)

(n)

(o)

Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)

Receivables

The accrued salaries suspense account (see note 19 Restricted cash and cash equivalents ) consists of amounts
paid annually into a suspense account over a period of 10 financial years to largely meet the additional cash
outflow in each eleventh year when 27 pay days occur in that year instead of the normal 26. No interest is
received on this account.

Accrued salaries

The Department receives funding on an accrual basis. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an
asset (holding account receivable). The accrued amount receivable is accessible on the emergence of the cash
funding requirement to cover leave entitlements and asset replacement.

See also note 17 Income from State Government  and note 22 Amounts receivable for services.

Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e.
impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as
uncollectible are written-off against the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful
debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the Department will not be able to collect the debts. The
carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.  

See note 2(k) Financial Instruments  and note 20 Receivables .

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no
interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.

Financial instruments

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents (and restricted cash and cash
equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in
value.

Accrued salaries (refer note 26 Payables ) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial
year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end. The Department considers the
carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value.

• Restricted cash and cash equivalents
• Receivables
• Amounts receivable for services

Financial Liabilities
• Payables

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the
transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

In addition to cash and cash equivalents, the Department has two categories of financial instrument:
• Receivables; and
• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:

Financial Assets 
• Cash and cash equivalents

Department of Planning
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(p)

(q)

(r)

(i) Provisions – employee benefits

Annual leave 

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period.  

See note 27 Provisions .

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels
including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience
of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market
yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as
closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Department does not
have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because
the Department has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has
completed the requisite years of service.

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Department becomes obliged to make future
payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as they
are generally settled within 30 days.  

See note 2(k) Financial Instruments  and note 26 Payables .

All loans payable are initially recognised at fair value, being the net proceeds received. Subsequent measurement
is at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Payables

Borrowings

Provisions

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees' services up to the end of the
reporting period.

Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is
therefore considered to be ‘other long‑term employee benefits’. The annual leave liability is recognised and
measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels
including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience
of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market
yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as
closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Department does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Long service leave 
Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period
is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are
settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Department of Planning
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The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other fund providers administer public sector
superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with the legislative requirements. Eligibility
criteria for membership in particular schemes for public sector employees vary according to commencement
and implementation dates.

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new
members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme
closed to new members since 1995.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension
Scheme or the GSS became non‑contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS).
Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super
Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees
became able to choose their preferred superannuation fund. The Department makes concurrent contributions
to GESB and other funds on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s
Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992 . Contributions to these accumulation schemes
extinguish the Department’s liability for superannuation charges in respect of employees who are not
members of the Pension Scheme and GSS.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting.
However, it is a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined
contributions) made by the Department to GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the related
superannuation liability.

The Department has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded
Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who transferred from the
Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent
contributions made by the Department to the GESB.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the
Treasurer for the employer’s share.

See also note 2(s) Superannuation expense.

Deferred leave

The provision for deferred leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement to
self-fund an additional 12 months leave in the fifth year of the agreement. The provision recognises the value
of salary set aside for employees to be used in the fifth year. This liability is measured on the same basis as
annual leave. Deferred leave is reported as a current provision as employees can leave the scheme at their
discretion at any time.

Purchased leave

The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement
to self-fund up to an additional 10 weeks leave per calendar year. The provision recognises the value of
salary set aside for employees and is measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled.  This liability is measured on the same basis as annual leave.

Superannuation
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(ii) Provisions – other

(s)

(t)

(u)

3

4

Superannuation expense

Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal cost

Operating lease commitments

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application of
accounting policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The
Department evaluates these judgements regularly.

The Department has entered into a number of leases for buildings for branch office accommodation. Some of
these leases relate to buildings of a temporary nature and it has been determined that the lessor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. Accordingly, these leases have been classified as
operating leases.

Comparative figures

The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises of employer contributions
paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the WSS, the GESBS, or other superannuation funds. The employer
contribution paid to the GESB in respect of the GSS is paid back to the Consolidated Account by the GESB.

Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost that the Department would have otherwise purchase
if not donated are recognised as income at the fair value of the assets or services where they can be reliably
measured. A corresponding expense is recognised for services received. Receipts of assets are recognised in
the Statement of Financial Position.

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income from
State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the
current financial year.

Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies

Employment on-costs

Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are
recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred.
Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the
Department’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs
provision’. 

See note 12 Other Expenses  and note 27 Provisions .

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Authority’s long service leave provision include
expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments. Changes in
these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision.

Long Service Leave

Key sources of Uncertainty
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5

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit 
Public Sector Entities [AASB 13]
This Standard relieves not-for-profit public sector entities from the reporting burden
associated with various disclosures required by AASB 13 for assets within the scope of
AASB 116 that are held primarily for their current service potential rather than to generate
future net cash inflows. It has no financial impact.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Conceptual Framework, Materiality and 
Financial Instruments.
Part C of this Standard defers the application of AASB 9 to 1 January 2017. The application
date of AASB 9 was subsequently deferred to 1 January 2018 by AASB 2014-1. The
Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 9.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) – 
Application of AASB 9 (December 2009) and AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 9 (2009 & 
2010)]

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2009) and
AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2010), arising from the issuance of AASB 9
Financial Instruments in December 2014. The Department has not yet determined the
application or the potential impact of AASB 9.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 1031 
Materiality

AASB 2015-3

This Standard completes the withdrawal of references to AASB 1031 in all Australian
Accounting Standards and Interpretations, allowing that Standard to effectively be
withdrawn. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2015-7

Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard

The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective, or adopted, for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2015 that impacted on the Department:

AASB 2013-9

AASB 2014-8
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Operative for 
reporting 
periods 

beginning 
on/after

Financial Instruments

1 Jan 2018

1 Jan 2018

Revenue from Contracts with Customers
This Standard establishes the principles that the Department shall apply to
report useful information to users of financial statements about the nature,
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a
contract with a customer. The Department has not yet determined the
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9
(December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121,
127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 &
127]

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian
Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in
December 2010.

AASB 15

AASB 2010-7

AASB 1057 Application of Australian Accounting Standards 1 Jan 2016
This Standard lists the application paragraphs for each other Standard (and
Interpretation), grouped where they are the same. There is no financial
impact.

AASB 16 Leases
This Standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a
lessee to recognise assets and
liabilities for all leases with a term of more than
12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. The Department has
not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2019

The mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended by
AASB 2012-6 and AASB 2014-1 to 1 January 2018. The Department has not
yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by
Treasurer’s Instruction 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncementsor by an
exemption from TI1101. Where applicable, the Department plans to apply the following Australian Accounting
Standards from their application date.

1 Jan 2018
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement , introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2018
after being amended by AASB 2012-6, AASB 2013-9 and AASB 2014-1
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards. The Department has not
yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 9
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1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Equity Method in
Separate Financial Statements [AASB 1, 127 & 128] 
This Standard amends AASB 127, and consequentially amends AASB 1 and
AASB 128, to allow entities to use the equity method of accounting for
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate
financial statements. The Department has not yet determined the application
or the potential impact of the Standard.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
Part E of the Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and consequential
amendments to other Standards. It has not yet been assessed by the
Authority to determine the application or potential impact of the Standard.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Accounting for
Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations [AASB 1 & 11]
The Department establishes Joint Operations in pursuit of its objectives and
does not routinely acquire interests in Joint Operations. Therefore, there is
no financial impact on application of the Standard.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarification of
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138]

AASB 2014-3

AASB 2014-4

AASB 2014-1

The adoption of the new Standard has no financial impact for the Model
Authority as depreciation and amortisation is not determined by reference to
revenue generation, but by reference to consumption of future economic
benefits.

1 Jan 2016

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-5

AASB 2014-7

1 Jan 2016

1 Jan 2018

1 Jan 2018

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards (including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of
AASB 15. The mandatory application date of this Standard has been
amended by AASB 2015-8 to 1 January 2018. The Department has not yet
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9
(December 2014)
This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards (including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of
AASB 9 (December 2014). The Department has not yet determined the
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 2014-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture [AASB 10 &
128]

1 Jan 2016

This Standard amends AASB 10 and AASB 128 to address an inconsistency
between the requirements in AASB 10 and those in AASB 129 (Aug 2011), in
dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The Department has not yet determined the
application or the potential impact of the Standard.
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AASB 2015-1

AASB 2015-2

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Related Party
Disclosures to Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities [AASB 10, 124 & 1049]

The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to include application by not-
for-profit public sector entities. Implementation guidance is included to assist
application of the Standard by not-for-profit public sector entities. There is no
financial impact.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements to
Australian Accounting Standards 2012–2014 Cycle [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11,
110, 119, 121, 133, 134, 137 & 140]
These amendments arise from the issuance of International Financial
Reporting Standard Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle in
September 2014, and editorial corrections. The Department has determined
that the application of the Standard has no financial impact.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –Disclosure Initiative:
Amendments to AASB 101 [AASB 7, 101, 134 & 1049]
This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification regarding the
disclosure requirements in AASB 101. Specifically, the Standard proposes
narrow-focus amendments to address some of the concerns expressed about
existing presentation and disclosure requirements and to ensure entities are
able to use judgement when applying a Standard in determining what
information to disclose in their financial statements. There is no financial
impact.

1 Jul 2016

1 Jan 2016

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2016-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarifications to AASB 15 1 Jan 2018

This Standard clarifies identifying performance obligations, principal versus
agent considerations, timing of recognising revenue from granting a licence,
and, provides further transitional provisions to AASB 15. The Department has
not yet determined the application or the potential impact.

AASB 2015-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –
Effective Date of AASB 15

1 Jan 2017

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application date) of
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers so that AASB 15 is
required to be applied for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2018 instead of 1 January 2017. The Department has not yet
determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 15.

AASB 2015-6

AASB 2015-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of
Amendments to AASB 10 & 128

1 Jan 2016

This Standard defers the mandatory effective date (application date) of
amendments to AASB 10 & 128 that were originally made in AASB 2014-10
so that the amendments are required to be applied for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 2016. The
Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of
AASB 2014-10.

AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative:
Amendments to AASB 107

1 Jan 2017

This Standard amends AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows (August 2015) to
require disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes
arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. There is no financial impact.
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2016 2015
$ 000 $ 000

6 Employee benefits expense

Wages and salaries (i) 50,115 46,844
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (ii) 4,558 4,496
Other related expenses 293 364

54,966 51,704

(i)

(ii)

7 Supplies and services

Communications 379 349
Consultants and contractors 12,379 12,717
Consumables 4,179 4,774
Repairs and maintenance 4,520 3,902
Travel 121 135

21,578 21,877

8 Depreciation and amortisation expense

Depreciation
Refurbishments, furniture and fittings 53 43
Plant and equipment 24 12
Computer hardware 255 220
Total depreciation 332 275

Amortisation
Licences 22 106
Software 1,871 1,682
Total amortisation 1,893 1,788

Total depreciation and amortisation expense 2,225 2,063

9 Accommodation expenses

Lease rentals 4,966 4,628
Lease outgoings 1,611 1,704

6,577 6,332

Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus fringe benefits tax component, superannuation
contribution, leave entitlements, and voluntary severance payments of $3,191,000 in 2015-16 and $1,321,000
in 2014-15.
Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State, GESB Super Scheme and other eligible funds.

Employment on-costs such as workers’ compensation insurance are included at note 12 Other expenses .  The 
employment on-costs liability is included at note 27 Provisions.
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2016 2015
$ 000 $ 000

10 Grants and subsidies expense

Area Assistance Grant 132 79
Bushfire Risk Assessor Training and Accreditation Subsidy - 126
Coastal Zone Management Program 687 744
Mandurah Central Revitalisation - 383
Northern Towns Development Fund 2,937 3,271
Oakajee Narngulu Infrastructure Corridor 540 -
Other 130 93

4,426 4,696

11 Loss on disposal of non-current assets

Carrying amount of  non-current assets disposed
Plant and equipment - (7)
Net gain/(loss) - (7)

12 Other expenses

Employment on-costs (i) 265 164
Audit cost 194 123
Donations and sponsorships 32 116
Doubtful debts expense 44 3
Board and sitting fees 915 639
Prior year SDA adjustment  (ii) 6,539 122
Other 457 119

8,446 1,286

(i)

(ii)

13 User charges and fees

Development Assessment Panels fees 1,243 1,446
Other 14 3

1,257 1,449

Includes worker’s compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs liability associated
with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included at note 27 Provisions .
Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not
included in employment on-costs. Includes on-costs charged on provision of Indian Ocean Territories Plan.

The 2015-16 Actual  includes an adjustment of $6.5 million which related to the difference between the actual 
service costs provided to the WAPC and the total amount chargeable to the WAPC in 2014-15  under the 
Service Delivery Agreement.
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2016 2015
$ 000 $ 000

14 Grants and Subsidies Revenue

Commonwealth grants 103 94
General government grants 1,655 774
Other 35 -

1,793 868

15 WAPC service delivery agreement revenue

WAPC fee transfer revenue 12,814 15,506
WAPC service delivery agreement 25,959 28,975

38,773 44,481

16 Other revenues

Recoups of operating expenses 160 12
Other 5 1

165 13

17 Income from State Government

Appropriation received during the year
Service appropriations 40,931 46,070

Services received free of charge from other State government 
agencies during the period:
Commissioner of Main Roads 3 23
Department of Finance 1,172 1,248
Landgate 173 773
State Solicitor's Office 1,007 780
Department of Agriculture and Food 2 -
Department of Water 10 2

2,367 2,826

Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises a cash
component and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the depreciation expense for the
year and any agreed increase in leave liabilities during the year.
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17 Income from State Government (Continued)

2016 2015
$ 000 $ 000

Royalties for Regions Fund:
Regional Workers Incentives - District Allowance 5 25
Funding for Northern Planning Program Fund 3,600 5,418

3,605 5,443

18 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents 20,621 16,390

19 Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Current
Royalties for Regions (i) 819 1,664
Accrued salaries suspense account (ii) - 1,882

819 3,546

(i) Unspent funds committed to projects in WA regional areas.
(ii)

Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as revenue at fair value of the assets
and/or services that can be reliably measured and which would have been purchased if they were not donated.
Contributions of assets or services in the nature of contributions by owners are recognised directly to equity.

This is the sub-fund within the over-arching ‘Royalties for Regions Fund’. The recurrent funds are committed to
projects and programs in WA regional areas.

These cash and cash equivalents include $3,232,000 (2015 $4,465,000) capital contribution and funds available to
meet capital expenditure commitments.

Funds held in the suspense account used for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a financial year that
occurs every 11 years.
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2016 2015
$ 000 $ 000

20 Receivables

Current
Receivables 4,655 16,381
Allowance for impairment of receivables (2) (3)
GST receivable 611 702

5,264 17,080

2016 2015
$ 000 $ 000

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables

Balance at start of period 3 -
Doubtful debts expense 44 3
Amounts written off during the period (42) -
Impairment losses reversed during the period (3) -
Balance at end of period 2 3

21 Other assets

Current
Prepayments 716 697

716 697

22 Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)

Non-current 16,326 15,788
16,326 15,788

The Department does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for receivables.
See also note 2(o) Receivables  and note 36 Financial Instruments.

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations (see note 2(n) Amounts Receivable for Services
(Holding Account)).   It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liabilities.
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23 Plant and equipment

Cost Accum. Carrying
value depr. amount
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000

At cost:
Refurbishments, furniture and fittings 544 (160) 384
Office equipment 119 (69) 50
Computer hardware 1,686 (708) 978
Works in progress 456 - 456

2,805 (937) 1,868

Cost Accum. Carrying
value depr. amount
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000

At cost:
Refurbishments, furniture and fittings 433 (107) 326
Office equipment 120 (46) 74
Computer hardware 1,206 (524) 682
Works in progress 62 - 62

1,821 (677) 1,144

2016

2015

Department of Planning
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Plant and Equipment Reconciliation

 Carrying 
amount at the 

start of the 
period 

 Additions  Disposals 

 Transferred 
to/from 

construction in 
progress 

 Revaluation  Impairment 
losses  Depreciation  Transfers / 

adjustments 

 Carrying 
amount at the 

end of the 
period 

$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000
2016
Refurbishments, furniture and fittings 326 110 (52) 384
Office equipment 74 (24) 50
Computer hardware 682 552 (256) 978
Works in progress 62 504 (110) - 456
Total 1,144 1,056 - - - - (332) - 1,868

 Carrying 
amount at the 

start of the 
period 

 Additions  Disposals 

 Transferred 
to/from 

construction in 
progress 

 Revaluation  Impairment 
losses  Depreciation  Transfers / 

adjustments 

 Carrying 
amount at the 

end of the 
period 

$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000
2015
Refurbishments, furniture and fittings 369 - - (43) 326
Office equipment 24 62 (12) 74
Computer hardware 786 123 (7) (220) 682
Works in progress 273 62 (273) 62
Total 1,452 247 (7) - - - (275) (273) 1,144

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the financial year are set out below.
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24 Intangibles

Cost Accum. Carrying
value depr. amount
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000

At cost:
Licences 889 (706) 183
Software 8,590 (3,769) 4,821
Works in progress 1,421 - 1,421

10,900 (4,475) 6,425

-

Cost Accum. Carrying
value depr. amount
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000

At cost:
Licenses 703 (684) 19
Software 4,868 (1,899) 2,969
Works in progress 3,605 - 3,605

9,176 (2,583) 6,593

2016

2015
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Intangible Reconciliation
Reconciliations of the carrying amount of intangible assets at the beginning and end of the financial year are set out below.

 Carrying 
amount at the 

start of the 
period 

 Additions  Disposals 

 Transferred 
to/from 

construction 
in progress 

 Revaluation  Impairment 
losses  Depreciation  Transfers / 

adjustments 

 Carrying 
amount at the 

end of the 
period 

$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000
2016
Licences 19 186 (22) 183
Software 2,969 - 3,722 (1,870) 4,821
Works in progress 3,605 1,538 (3,722) - 1,421
Total 6,593 1,724 - - - - (1,892) - 6,425

 Carrying 
amount at the 

start of the 
period 

 Additions  Disposals 

 Transferred 
to/from 

construction 
in progress 

 Revaluation  Impairment 
losses  Depreciation  Transfers / 

adjustments 

 Carrying 
amount at the 

end of the 
period 

$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000
2015
Licences 125 (106) 19
Software 326 4,325 (1,682) 2,969
Works in progress 7,471 1,407 (4,325) - (948) 3,605
Total 7,922 1,407 - - - - (1,788) (948) 6,593
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25 Impairment of assets

2016 2015
$ 000 $ 000

26 Payables

Current
Trade creditors 1,877 2,555
Accrued salaries  (i) 1,227 1,967

3,104 4,522

(i)

See also note 2(p) Payables and note 36 Financial instruments.

27 Provisions

Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave (i) 4,740 4,696

5,555 6,114
Purchased leave provision (iii) (41) (85)

10,254 10,725
Other provisions
Employment on-costs (iv) 46 48

10,300 10,773

Non-current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave (ii) 2,372 2,180

Other provisions
Employment on-costs (iv) 10 10

2,382 2,190

(i)

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 3,129 3,338
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 1,611 1,358

4,740 4,696

Long service leave (ii)

There were no indications of impairment to plant and equipment or intangible assets at 30 June 2016.

The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the end of the reporting
period and at the end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for
at least 12 months after reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will
occur as follows:

 Accrued salaries in 2016 relates to outstanding voluntary severances payments made in July 2016. 

Department of Planning
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2016 2015
$ 000 $ 000

27 Provisions (continued)
(ii)

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 1,964 2,130
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 5,963 6,164

7,927 8,294

(iii)

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period (41) (85)
(41) (85)

(iv)

Movements in other provisions:

Employment on-costs provision

Carrying amount at the start of the period 58 84
Additional (reversals of) provisions recognised 25 53
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits (27) (43)
Unwinding of the discount - (36)
Carrying amount at end of period 56 58

28 Other liabilities

Other liabilities 3 5
3 5

Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee benefits,
are set out below:

Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer
settlement for at least 12 months after reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the
liabilities will occur as follows:

Purchased leave scheme has been classified as current as leave must be taken by 31 December each
calendar year or the value of the untaken purchased leave is paid back to the employee.

The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs
including workers' compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments.
The associated expense is disclosed in note 12 Other expenses .

Department of Planning
Development Assesment Panels



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Department of Planning  ANNUAL REPORT  2015/16 37

Department of Planning

2016 2015
$ 000 $ 000

29 Equity

Contributed equity

Balance at the start of the period 14,333 11,534

Contributions by owners
Capital appropriation 1,829 2,799
Total contributions by owners 1,829 2,799

Transfer of debit balance to Accumulated surplus - -
Balance at the end of the period 16,162 14,333

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Balance at the start of the period 29,415 16,230
Result for the period (9,327) 13,185
Balance at the end of the  period 20,088 29,415

Total Equity at the end of the period 36,250 43,748

30 Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

(a) Reconciliation of cash

Cash and cash equivalents (i) 20,621 16,390
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (ii) 819 3,546

21,440 19,936

(i)

(ii)

The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in the Department on behalf of the community. Equity
represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Department.  

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in
the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

These cash and cash equivalents include $3,232,000 (2015 $4,465,000) capital contribution and funds
available to meet capital expenditure commitments.
See note 19 Restricted cash and cash equivalents.
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2016 2015
$ 000 $ 000

(b) Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities

Net cost of services (56,230) (41,154)
Non cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense 2,225 2,063
Doubtful debts expense 44 3
Impairment expense (2) -
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of non-current assets - 7
Prior year SDA adjustment 6,539 122
Services received free of charge 2,367 2,826
Expenses previously held in construction in progress - 1,222

(Increase)/decrease in assets
Current receivables (i) 5,187 (7,713)
Other current assets (19) (529)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities
Current payables (i) (1,415) 2,596
Current provisions (473) 1,298
Other current liabilities (2) 4
Non-current provisions 190 (300)
Net GST receipts/(payments)  (ii) 127 (377)
Change in GST in receivables/payables  (iii) (244) 465
Net cash used in operating activities (41,706) (39,467)

(i)

(ii) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions.
(iii) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.

31 Services provided free of charge

Department of Transport - PlanViewWA access 20 18
Department of Premier and Cabinet - Geospatial Information System analysis 5 -
Department of Education Services - Non-Government schools mapping - 11

- 25
25 54

32 Commitments

(a) Capital expenditure commitments

Within one year 208 267
208 267

During the period the following services were provided to other agencies free of charge for functions outside the
normal operations of the Department.

Department of Local Government and Communities - Local Government reform 
mapping

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts reported in the
financial statements, are payable as follows:

 Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the 
receivable/payable inrespect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they 
do not form part of the reconciling items. 
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2016 2015
$ 000 $ 000

32 Commitments (continued)

(b) Other expenditure commitments

Within one year 1,065 2,217
Later than one year but not later than five years 12 55

1,077 2,272

(c) Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:
Within one year 4,921 4,778
Later than one year but not later than five years 18,417 17,899
Later than five years 17,050 20,893

40,388 43,570

These commitments are all inclusive of GST.

33 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Contingent liabilities

The following contingent liabilities are additional to the liabilities included in the financial statements:

Litigation in progress

Contingent assets

Insurance claims
The Department has 11 pending insurance claims ($15,930) that may affect the financial position.

34 Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

There were no events occurring after the end of the reporting period that have any financial effect on the results 
reported on these financial statements.

There is a possible liability claim associated with the resumption of land for the Perth-Mandurah railway and 
Mandurah Entrance Road. 


In addition to the assets incorporated in the financial statements, the Department has the following contingent 
assets:

Other expenditure commitments (including software licences and maintenance) contracted for at the end of the 
reporting period but not recognised as liabilities, are payable as follows:

Commitments in relation to non-cancellable operating lease rentals contracted for at the end of the reporting period
but not recognised as liabilities in the financial statements are payable as follows:
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35 Explanatory Statement

Note
Original 

Budget Actual Actual

Variance 
between 

estimate and 
actual

Variance 
between 

actual 
results from 

2016 and 
2015

2016 2016 2015
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

Statement of Comprehensive Income

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense A 54,422        54,966        51,704        544             3,262          
Supplies and services 22,078        21,578        21,877        (500)            (299)            
Depreciation and amortisation expense 538             2,225          2,063          1,687          162             
Accommodation expenses 6,446          6,577          6,332          131             245             
Grants and subsidies expense 1 6,174          4,426          4,696          (1,748)         (270)            
Loss on disposal of non-current assets -                  -                  7                 -                  (7)                
Other expenses 2, B 3,814          8,446          1,286          4,632          7,160          
Total cost of services 93,472        98,218       87,965       4,746         10,253       

Income
Revenue
User charges and fees 1,701          1,257          1,449          (444)            (192)            
Grants and subsidies revenue 1,488          1,793          868             305             925             
WAPC service delivery agreement revenue 3, C 45,875        38,773        44,481        (7,102)         (5,708)         
Other revenues 84               165             13               81               152             
Total revenue 49,148        41,988        46,811        (7,160)         (4,823)         

Total income other than income from State Government 49,148        41,988       46,811       (7,160)        (4,823)        

NET COST OF SERVICES 44,325        56,230       41,154       11,905       15,076       

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation D 42,109        40,931        46,070        (1,178)         (5,139)         
Services received free of charge 2,100          2,367          2,826          267             (459)            
Royalties for Regions Fund 4, E 5,365          3,605          5,443          (1,760)         (1,838)         
Total income from State Government 49,574        46,903       54,339       (2,671)        (7,436)        

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 5,250          (9,327)        13,185       (14,576)      (22,512)      

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 5,250          (9,327)        13,185       (14,576)      (22,512)      

All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2016, and between the actual results for 2016 and 2015 are 
shown below. Narratives are provided for key variations selected from observed major variances, which are generally greater than:

• 5% and $1.8 million for the Statements of Comprehensive Income and Cash Flows; and
• 5% and $1.2 million for the Statements of Financial Position.
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Note
Original 

Budget Actual Actual

Variance 
between 

estimate and 
actual

Variance 
between 

actual 
results from 

2016 and 
2015

2016 2016 2015
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

Statement of Financial Position

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 14,133        20,621        16,390        6,488          4,231          
Restricted cash and cash equivalents F 356             819             3,546          463             (2,727)         
Receivables 8,923          5,264          17,080        (3,659)         (11,816)       
Other assets 205             716             697             511             19               
Total Current Assets 23,617        27,420       37,713       3,803         (10,293)      

Non-Current Assets
Amounts receivable for services 16,806        16,326        15,788        (480)            538             
Plant and equipment 5 14,615        1,868          1,144          (12,747)       724             
Intangible assets 6 11,114        6,425          6,593          (4,689)         (168)            
Total Non-Current Assets 42,535        24,619       23,525       (17,916)      1,094         

TOTAL ASSETS 66,152        52,039       61,238       (14,113)      (9,199)        

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 728             3,104          4,522          2,376          (1,418)         
Provisions 9,355          10,300        10,773        945             (473)            
Other liabilities 9                 3                 5                 (6)                (2)                
Total Current Liabilities 10,092        13,407       15,300       3,315         (1,893)        

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions 2,491          2,382          2,190          (109)            192             
Total Non-Current Liabilities 2,491          2,382         2,190         (109)           192            

TOTAL LIABILITIES 12,583        15,789       17,490       3,206         (1,701)        

NET ASSETS 53,569        36,250       43,748       (17,319)      (7,498)        

EQUITY
Contributed equity 26,806        16,162        14,333        (10,644)       1,829          
Accumulated surplus 26,763        20,088        29,415        (6,675)         (9,327)         
TOTAL EQUITY 53,569        36,250       43,748       (17,319)      (7,498)        
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Note
Original 

Budget Actual Actual

Variance 
between 

estimate and 
actual

Variance 
between 

actual 
results from 

2016 and 
2015

2016 2016 2015
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

Statement of Cash Flows

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 41,571        40,393        45,905        (1,178)         (5,512)         
Capital appropriations 7 12,473        1,829          2,799          (10,644)       (970)            
Royalty for Regions Fund 5,365          3,605          5,443          (1,760)         (1,838)         
Net cash provided by State Government 59,409        45,827       54,147       (13,582)      (8,320)        

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits (56,285)       (56,169)       (49,857)       116             (6,312)         
Supplies and services (19,978)       (18,525)       (17,946)       1,453          (579)            
Accommodation (6,446)         (6,566)         (6,322)         (120)            (244)            
Grants and subsidies G (6,174)         (5,323)         (3,578)         851             (1,745)         
GST payments on purchases (4,305)         (3,098)         (2,715)         1,207          (383)            
Other payments (3,813)         (2,242)         (736)            1,571          (1,506)         

Receipts
Sale of goods and services 1,701          1,257          1,450          (444)            (193)            
Grants and subsidies 1,482          1,793          979             311             814             
GST receipts on sales 1,488          131             52               (1,357)         79               
GST receipts from taxation authority 2,852          3,094          2,286          242             808             
WAPC Service Delivery Agreement receipts 45,875        43,781        36,905        (2,094)         6,876          
Other receipts 90               161             15               71               146             
Net cash used in operating activities (43,513)       (41,706)      (39,467)      1,807         (2,239)        

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of non-current physical assets 7 (13,845)       (2,617)         (2,275)         11,228        (342)            
Net cash used in investing activities (13,845)       (2,617)        (2,275)        11,228       (342)           

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2,051          1,504          12,405        (547)            (10,901)       
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
period 11,066        19,936        7,531          8,870          12,405        
Net cash transferred (to)/from other agencies 8 1,372          (1,372)         -                  
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF 
THE PERIOD 14,489        21,440        19,936        6,951          1,504          
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Major Estimate and Actual (2016) Variance Narratives for Controlled Operations

1)

2)

3)

4)

5)

6)

7)

8)

Major Actual (2016) and Actual (2015) Variance Narratives for Controlled Operations

A)

B)

C)

D)

E)

F)

G) Grants and subsidies payments increased by $1.7 million (49%) mainly related to an increase of $1 million in Northern 
Planning Program and $0.5 million for Oakajee Narngulu Infrastructure Corridor to the Department of State Development.

Service appropriation decreased by $5.5 million (12%) due to various government saving initiatives of $3.4 million which 
includes efficiency dividend, procurement and ICT savings and Workforce Renewal Policy. In addition, the Strategic 
Assessment of Perth and Peel Regions project funding was reduced by $0.9 million and $0.4 million was transferred to 
the Department of Transport for the Strategic Transport Evaluation Modelling team.

Funding for Royalties for Regions Fund was reduced by $1.8 million (34%) compared to last year's funding due to lower 
funding requirements for the Northern Planning Program which is expected to be completed in 2016-17.

Restricted cash balance decreased by $2.8 million (78%) as 2015 Actual includes $1.9 million accrued salaries restricted 
account for the 27th pay which is not applicable in 2016.  Unspent cash on Northern Planning Program funded from 
Royalties for Regions has reduced by $0.9 million in 2016.

Plant and Equipment carrying amount was budgeted higher than Actuals by $12.7 million (87%) due to the deferral of the 
$10.3 million Oakajee Narngulu Infrastructure Corridor asset investment program. The remaining variance is due to 
accumulated depreciation balance increases.

Intangible assets was lower than budget by $4.7 million (42%). The original budget for intangible assets was overstated 
while the amortisation expense was underestimated. 

The original budgets for Capital appropriation and Purchase of non-current physical assets were higher than Actuals by 
more than $10 million as a result of the deferral of the $10.3 million Oakajee Narngulu Infrastructure Corridor asset 
investment program.

Net cash transferred to the Department that was budgeted at $1.4 million for the Regional Urban Scenario Planning 
initiatives in relation to the Location Information System transferred from Landgate was not expended during 2015-16.

Other expenses increased by $7.2 million (557%) due to the 2015-16 Actual including an adjustment of $6.5 million which 
related to the difference between the actual service costs provided to the WAPC and the total amount chargeable to the 
WAPC in 2014-15  under the Service Delivery Agreement, and a return of $0.3 million unspent funding to Treasury in 
relation to the Pilbara Cities program . 

Service Delivery Agreement revenue for the WAPC decreased by $5.7 million (13%) as the revenue generated from the
2015-16 agreement is on a cost recovery basis for services provided by the Department, while the revenue from the 
2014-15 agreement was based on the annual budgeted costs to the WAPC.

Employee benefits expense increased by $3.3 million (6%) due to two rounds of voluntary severance payments totalling 
$3,191,000 in 2016.

Royalties for Regions Fund was funded less than original budget by $1.8 million (33%) due to lower than anticipated 
project activities in relation to implementation of Northern Planning Program.

Grants and subsidies was underspent by $1.7 million (28%) mainly due to lower than anticipated activities in the Northern 
Planning Program which is expected to be completed in 2016-17.

Other expenses exceed estimates by $4.6 million (121%) due to the 2015-16 Actual  including an adjustment of 
$6.5 million which related to the difference between the actual service costs provided to the WAPC and the total amount 
chargeable to the WAPC in 2014-15  under the Service Delivery Agreement. In addition, insurance for workers 
compensation, licenses fees and miscellaneous project expenses were underspent during the year.

Service Delivery Agreement revenue with WAPC generated less than estimates by $7.1 million (15%) as lower than 
anticipated activities in Whiteman Park, property administration and maintenance and supporting services and the total 
amount chargeable to the WAPC  is less than the original budget.
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36 Financial Instruments

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

Credit risk

Liquidity risk

Market risk

The Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by 
monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect 
the Department’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  The Department does not trade in 
foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks (for example, equity securities or commodity 
prices changes).   

As detailed in the interest rate sensitivity analysis at note 36(c) Financial instruments disclosures ,   the Department 
is not exposed to interest rate risk because apart from minor amounts of restricted cash, all other cash and cash 
equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing and have no borrowings.

Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, 
receivables and payables.  The Department has limited exposure to financial risks.  The Department’s overall risk 
management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Department’s receivables defaulting on their contractual 
obligations resulting in financial loss to the Department.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised 
financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment, as shown 
in the table at note 36(c) Financial instruments disclosures  and note 20 Receivables .

Credit risk associated with the Department’s financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the 
amounts receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other than government, the Department trades 
only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Department has policies in place to ensure that sales of 
products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances 
are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Department’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the 
end of the reporting period there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.

Liquidity risk arises when the Department is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

The Department is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.
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(b) Categories of financial instruments

2016 2015

$ 000 $ 000
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 20,621 16,390
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 819 3,546
Loans and receivables (i) 4,653 16,378
Amounts receivable for services 16,326 15,788
Total Financial Assets 42,419 52,102

Financial Liabilities
Payables 3,104 4,522
Total Financial Liabilities 3,104 4,522

(i) The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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36 Financial Instruments (continued)

(c) Financial instrument disclosures

Credit Risk

Aged analysis of financial assets

Carrying 
Amount

Not past 
due and 

not 
impaired

up to 1 
month

1-3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year 1-5 years

More than 
5 years

Impaired 
Financial 

Assets
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

Financial Assets
2016
Cash and cash equivalents 20,621 20,621 - - - - - -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 819 819 - - - - - -
Receivables (i) 4,653 4,134 - 484 31 4 - -
Amounts receivable for services 16,326 16,326 - - - - - -

42,419 41,900 - 484 31 4 - -

2015
Cash and cash equivalents 16,390 16,390 - - - - - -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3,546 3,546 - - - - - -
Receivables (i) 16,378 16,312 - 3 38 25 - -
Amounts receivable for services 15,788 15,788 - - - - - -

52,102 52,036 - 3 38 25 - -

(i) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

The following table details the Department’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The Department’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table 
discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets.  The table is based on information 
provided to senior management of the Department.

Past due but not impaired

The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the financial assets it holds.D
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(c) Financial instrument disclosures (continued)

Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate
Carrying 
Amount

Fixed 
interest 

rate

Variable 
interest 

rate

Non-
interest 
bearing

Nominal 
amount

Up to 1 
month

1-3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year 1-5 years

more than 
5 years

2016 % $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 0.00 20,621 - - 20,621 20,621 20,621 - - - -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 0.00 819 - - 819 819 819 - - - -
Receivables (i) 4,653 - - 4,653 4,653 4,653 - - - -
Amounts receivable for services 16,326 - - 16,326 16,326 - . - 16,326 -

42,419 - - 42,419 42,419 26,093 - - 16,326 -

Financial Liabilities   
Payables 3,104 - - 3,104 3,104 3,104 - - - -

3,104 - - 3,104 3,104 3,104 - - - -

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate
Carrying 
Amount

Fixed 
interest 

rate

Variable 
interest 

rate

Non-
interest 
bearing

Nominal 
amount

Up to 1 
month

1-3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year 1-5 years

more than 
5 years

2015 % $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 0.00 16,390 - - 16,390 16,390 16,390 - - - -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 0.00 3,546 - - 3,546 3,546 1,664 - 1,882 - -
Receivables (i) 16,378 - - 16,378 16,378 16,378 - - - -
Amounts receivable for services 15,788 - - 15,788 15,788 - - - 15,788 -

52,102 - - 52,102 52,102 34,432 - 1,882 15,788 -

Financial Liabilities   
Payables 4,522 - - 4,522 4,522 4,522 - - - -

4,522 - - 4,522 4,522 4,522 - - - -

(i) The amount of payables excludes GST payable to the ATO (statutory payable).

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

The following table details the Department’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities.  The maturity analysis section 
includes interest and principal cash flows.  The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.  The amounts disclosed are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities.
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36 Financial Instruments (continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The Department is not exposed to interest rate fluctuations.

Fair values

37 Remuneration of senior officers

2016 2015
$ $ $ 000 $ 000

<50,000 7 5
50,001 - 60,000 - 1
60,001 - 70,000 - 2
70,001 - 80,000 1 -

160,001 - 170,000 1 -
190,001 - 200,000 - 1
210,001 - 220,000 2 1
220,001 - 230,000 1 -
250,001 - 260,000 - 1
360,001 - 370,000 1 -
380,001 - 390,000 - 1
430,001 - 440,000 (i) 1 -

2016 2015
$ 000 $ 000

Base remuneration and superannuation 1,689 1,208
Annual leave and long service leave accruals 82 110
Other benefits 41 33
Total remuneration of senior officers  (ii) 1,812 1,351

(i)

(ii)

38 Remuneration of Auditor
Remuneration to the Auditor General for the financial year is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance
indicators 126 123

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are 
carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair 
values unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.

The number of senior officers, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other
benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

Remuneration includes seven months secondment to external agency which is excluded from the external 
agency's reporting, and voluntary severance for the senior officer.

No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme.
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2016 2015
$ 000 $ 000

39 Special purpose accounts

Perry LakesTrust  Account (i)

Opening balance 1,095 2,622

Receipts:
Treasurer's advance -
Land sales - 2,195
Interest income 39 218
Other receipts 245

39 2,658

Payments:
Repayment of Treasurer's advance - (2,500)
Other payments (120) (1,685)

(120) (4,185)

Closing balance 1,014 1,095

(i)

40 Supplementary financial information

Write-offs

The Accountable Authority 42 1

Losses through theft, defaults, other causes and gifts of public property

41 Indian Ocean Territories Service Level Agreement

Opening balance - -

Receipts 103 94

Payments (103) (94)

Closing balance - -

There were no losses of public money or other property through theft, defaults and other causes or gifts of public
property for 2015-16.

During the financial year three debt valued at $42,029 ($680 in 2014-15) was written off under the authority of:

This Account holds funds received pursuant to section 43 of the Perry Lakes Redevelopment Act 2005 for 
application in accordance with section 43(1) of that Act.

Department of Planning
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42 Disclosure of administered income and expenses by service

 Integrated land 
and transport 

policy 
development 

 Integrated land 
and transport 

policy 
development 

 Land 
accessibility 

planning tenure 
and policy 

development 

 Land 
accessibility 

planning tenure 
and policy 

development Total Total
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses under the Perry Lakes Redevelopment Act 2005
Borrowings costs - - 948 1,169 948 1,169
Transfer of land to the Town of Cambridge - - 27,364 - 27,364 -
Loss on the disposal of land - - - 689 - 689
Other expenses - - 6,043 432 6,043 432
Total administered expenses - - 34,355 2,290 34,355 2,290

Income

 Revenues under the Perry Lakes Redevelopment Act 2005 
Other revenues - - 23 119 23 119
Total administered revenues - - 23 119 23 119
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43 Explanatory Statement for Administered Items

Note
Original 
Budget Actual Actual

Variance 
between 

estimate and 
actual

Variance 
between 

actual 
results from 

2016 and 
2015

2016 2016 2015
Administered expenses and income $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

Income
Other Revenues under the Perry Lakes Redevelopment Act 2005 1, A 41 23 119 (18) (96)
Total administered income 41 23 119 (18) (96)

Expenses
Borrowing costs 2, B 1,324 948 1,169 (376) (221)
Transfer of land to the Town of Cambridge 3, C - 27,364 - 27,364 27,364
Loss on the disposal of land D - - 689 - (689)
Other Perry Lakes Redevelopment Act 2005  expenses 4, E 40 6,043 432 6,003 5,611
Total administered expenses 1,364 34,355 2,290 32,991 32,065

Major Estimate and Actual (2016) Variance Narratives for Administered Items

1)

2) 

3)

4)

Major Actual (2016) and Comparative (2015) Variance Narratives for Administered Items

A)

B)

C)

D)

E)

All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2016, and between the actual results for 2016 and 2015 are shown below. 
Narratives are provided for key variations, which are generally greater than 5% and $820.

Other revenue decreased by $0.02 million (44%) due to lower than ancipated interest revenue received.

Other expenses increased by $5.6 million (1299%) as other project management costs incurred by Landcorp that were previously capitalised as 
construction in progress were expensed up to $5.9 million in 2015-16 for preparation of the closure of the project in 
2016-17.

Other revenue decreased by $0.1 million (81%) due to lower interest revenue received from reducing interest rate with lower bank balance as a result 
of no sales activities.

Borrowing costs on Perry Lakes trust account underspent by $0.4 million (28%) due to lower interest expenses resulting from lower interest rates than 

The remaining lands in Perry Lakes was approved to be transferred to the Town of Cambridge after the Original budget was published.  Accordingly, 
the land was transferred in July 2015.

Other expenses overspent by $6 million (15008%) as other project management costs incurred by Landcorp that were previously capitalised as 
construction in progress were expensed in 2015-16 in order to finalise the project. 

Borrowing costs on Perry Lakes trust account decreased by $0.2 million (19%) due to reducing interest rates resulting in lower interest expenses.

The remaining lands in Perry Lakes was transferred to the Town of Cambridge in July 2015 in preparation for the completion of the project.

Since there was no sales activities during 2015-16, no profit or loss on disposal of land was occurred.
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2016 2015
$ 000 $ 000

44 Administered assets and liabilities

Current assets
Cash 1,014 1,095
Accounts receivable 6 22
Total administered current assets 1,020 1,117

Non-current assets
Land, at  fair value - 28,273
Construction in progress (i) - 5,949
Total administered non-current assets - 34,222

Total administered assets 1,020 35,339

Current liabilities
Accounts payable - 25
Interest payable 24,061 -
Borrowings 42,017 -
Total administered current liabilities 66,078 25

Non-current liabilities
Interest payable - 23,113
Borrowings - 42,017
Total administered non-current liabilities - 65,130

Total administered liabilities 66,078 65,155
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1	  

Department	  of	  Planning	  Level	  Government	  Desired	  Outcomes	  	  
and	  Key	  Performance	  Indicators	  

	  
The	  breadth	  and	  diversity	  of	  the	  Department	  of	  Planning’s	  (the	  Department)	  functions	  and	  services	  means	  that	  
the	  Department	  contributes	   to	  many	  of	   the	  Government’s	   strategic	  goals.	   	  The	  Department’s	  most	   significant	  
contributions	  to	  the	  Government's	  goals	  are	  outlined	  in	  the	  tabled	  below.	  
	  

Government	  Goal	   Department	  Desired	  Outcomes	   Department	  Services	  

Outcomes	  Based	  Service	  
Delivery	  	  
Greater	  focus	  on	  achieving	  
results	  in	  key	  service	  delivery	  
areas	  for	  the	  benefit	  of	  all	  
Western	  Australians.	  

Integration	  of	  land	  systems	  that	  
facilitate	  economic	  
development.	  	  	  

Integrated	  Land	  and	  	  
Infrastructure	  Policy	  Development	  	  

Accessibility	  to	  serviced	  land	  and	  
infrastructure	  

Land	  Accessibility	  Planning	  and	  Policy	  
Development	  

	  
	  
DoP Level Government Desired Outcome: 
Integration of land systems that facilitate economic development 
	  
Effectiveness	  Indicator:	   Proportion	  of	  zoned	  land	  in	  the	  metropolitan	  area	  that	  is	  400	  metres/1	  kilometre	  

from	  major	  transport	  systems.	  
	  
The	   Department,	   through	   its	   land-‐planning	   role,	   determines	   the	   location	   of	   major	   transport	   routes,	   their	  
suitability	   for	   a	   range	   of	   transport	   services	   and	   their	   proximity	   to	   urban	   areas.	   	   The	   term	   “major	   transport	  
routes”	  includes	  all	  major	  roads	  and	  railway	  lines	  which	  buses	  and	  trains	  use	  as	  the	  main	  connecting	  corridors,	  
but	  excludes	  minor	  suburban	  roads.	  	  	  
	  
Convenient	  access	  to	  major	  transport	  systems	  pays	  significant	  economic	  dividends	  through:	  	  

• facilitating	  commuting	  to	  industrial	  centres;	  	  
• linking	  consumers	  to	  products	  and	  services;	  	  
• enabling	  the	  efficient	  transport	  of	  freight;	  and	  
• reducing	  private	  usage	  road	  infrastructure	  costs.	  

	  
Enabling	  ease	  of	  access	  to	  major	  public	  transport	  systems	  also	  allows	  development	  to	  occur	  sustainably	  through	  
reduced	  greenhouse	  gases	  and	  greater	  reliance	  on	  environmentally	  friendly	  transport	  options.	   	   In	  this	  context,	  
major	  transport	  systems	  are	  primary	  regional	  roads,	  other	  regional	  roads	  and	  railway	  stations	  as	  defined	  in	  the	  
Regional	  Scheme.	  	  
	  
Where	   the	   proportion	   of	   zoned	   land	   that	   meets	   the	   international	   benchmark	   of	   400	   metres	   from	   major	  
transport	  systems	  is	  trending	  upwards	  or	  remains	  constant,	  the	  Department	  demonstrates	  achievement	  of	  land	  
and	  transport	  integration.	  	  
	  
This	   indicator	   is	  calculated	   from	  the	  Local/Town	  Planning	  Scheme	   Information	  extracted	  using	  the	  Geographic	  
Information	  System	  (GIS).	   	  This	  GIS	  is	  a	  spatial	  database	  consisting	  of	  mapping	  characteristics	  and	  coordinates.	  	  
The	  data	  extracted	  represents	  percentages	  of	  land	  for	  selected	  residential	  density	  codes	  (R-‐Codes)	  proximity	  to	  
major	  transport	  routes.	  	  The	  data	  is	  for	  the	  Perth	  Metropolitan	  area	  only.	  
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	   2012-‐13	  

Actual	  
2013-‐14	  
Actual	  

2014-‐15	  
Actual	  

2015-‐16	  
Target	  

2015-‐16	  
Actual	  

Proportion	  of	  zoned	  land	  in	  the	  
metropolitan	  area	  that	  is	  400	  metres/1	  
kilometre	  from	  major	  transport	  systems.	  

	   	   	   	   	  

	  -‐	  Less	  than	  R20*	  :	  400m	   40.2% 40.1%	   40.8%	   40.3%	   39.9%	  

	  -‐	  Less	  than	  R20	  :	  1	  km	   78.2% 78.2%	   79.0%	   78.2%	   76.8%	  

	  -‐	  R20	  :	  400m	   60.0% 59.1%	   59.9%	   60.0%	   57.3%	  

	  -‐	  R20	  :	  1	  km	   95.1% 95.0%	   95.1%	   95.0%	   94.0%	  

	  -‐	  Greater	  than	  R20	  :	  400m	   60.6% 60.6%	   60.7%	   60.6%	   62.1%	  

	  -‐	  Greater	  than	  R20	  :	  1km	   95.9% 95.9%	   95.9%	   95.9%	   96.1%	  

	  
*R20	  –	  Minimum	  site	  density	  of	  350m2	  and	  an	  average	  site	  density	  of	  450m2	  per	  dwelling.	  
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Effectiveness	  Indicator:	  	  Area	  of	  commercial	  and	  industrial	  land	  per	  capita	  per	  corridor	  
	  
One	   of	   the	   objectives	   sought	   from	   the	   integration	   of	   land	   and	   transport	   is	   economic	   development	   through	  
enhanced	  employment	  self-‐sufficiency	   in	  metropolitan	  planning	  sectors.	   	   In	  other	  words,	  people	   that	   live	   in	  a	  
suburb	  are	  able	  to	  find	  work	  in	  that	  suburb.	  	  Employment	  self-‐sufficiency	  yields	  several	  benefits	  including:	  	  

• minimising	   environmental	   impacts	   through	   reducing	   the	   need	   for	   long	   car	   journeys	   to	   places	   of	  
employment;	  	  

• revitalising	  suburbs	  through	  increased	  local	  employment;	  	  
• maximising	  utilisation	  of	  infrastructure	  and	  services	  through	  greater	  density	  in	  prescribed	  areas;	  and	  	  
• social	   benefits	   including	   improved	   work/life	   balance	   through	   reduced	   commuting	   times	   and	   an	  

enhanced	  sense	  of	  community.	  	  
	  
The	  Department	   can	   indirectly	   influence	   the	   creation	   of	   jobs	   in	   specific	   geographical	   areas,	   through	   ensuring	  
that	   land	   is	   available	   for	   commercial	   and	   industrial	   purposes.	   	  Western	   Australia	   has	  many	   opportunities	   to	  
promote	  and	  foster	  continued	  strong	  and	  sustainable	  economic	  growth	  in	  commerce,	  industry	  and	  trade.	  	  These	  
have	  and	  will	  continue	  to	  provide	  an	  expanded	  financial	  base	  to	  Government	  for	  meeting	  growing	  community	  
lifestyle	  expectations.	  	  Responding	  to	  the	  needs	  of	  this	  growth	  potential,	  along	  with	  responding	  to	  the	  general	  
needs	  of	  population	  growth,	  has	  and	  will	  continue	  to	  require	  careful	  planning	  and	  management	  of	  the	  State's	  
land	  use	  and	   infrastructure	  requirements.	   	  As	  the	  Department	  has	  significant	   involvement	   in	  this	  role	  through	  
the	  provision	  of	  effective	  and	  timely	  advice,	   the	  Department	  can	  therefore	  make	  a	  substantial	  contribution	  to	  
the	  State's	  economic	  and	  social	  development	  goals.	  	  
	  
Where	   the	   percentage	   of	   commercial	   and	   industrial	   land,	   per	   capita	   per	   planning	   sector	   increases,	   the	  
Department	  demonstrates	  its	  contribution	  to	  fostering	  economic	  development.	  
	  
To	  calculate	  this	  indicator,	  industrial	  and	  commercial	  zoned	  land	  in	  Local	  Authority	  Town	  Planning	  Schemes	  and	  
the	  Perth	  Metropolitan	  Region	  Schemes	  are	  combined	  with	  planning	  sector	  boundaries	  and	  the	  resulting	   land	  
area	   summed	   by	   planning	   sector.	   	   Land	   areas	   per	   capita	   are	   determined	   by	   dividing	   these	   areas	   by	   the	  
population1	  in	  each	  planning	  sector.	  	  
	  
A	  significant	   improvement	  was	  made	  during	  2014-‐15	   in	   relation	   to	   the	  classification	  of	  Local	  Planning	  Scheme	  
zone	  categories	  and	  the	  calculation	  of	  associated	  land	  with	  commercial	  and	  industrial	  activities.	   It	  has	   led	  to	  a	  
more	  precise	  apportionment	  of	  land	  area	  in	  each	  of	  the	  subregions	  and	  significant	  movement	  in	  some	  reported	  
indicators.	  	  	  
	  
	   2012-‐13	  

Actual	  
2013-‐14	  
Actual	  

2014-‐15	  
Actual	  

2015-‐16	  
Target	  

2015-‐16	  
Actual	  

Reasons	  for	  
Significant	  Variance	  

Area	  of	  commercial	  
and	  industrial	  land	  
per	  capita	  per	  
corridor:	  

	   	   	   	   	   	  

	  -‐	  Eastern	  Sector	  –	  
Commercial	  per	  
capita	  

9.0m2 9.6m2 13.1m2 12.6m2	   13.6m2 	  

	  -‐	  Eastern	  Sector	  –	  
Industrial	  per	  capita	   96.7m2 93.3m2 167.2m2 161.3m2	   168.4m2	   	  

                                                
 
1 The	  population	  data	  is	  based	  on	  the	  report	  Regional	  Population	  Growth,	  Australia,	  2014-‐15,	  Australian	  Bureau	  of	  Statistics,	  3218.0	  	  -‐	  Estimated	  Resident	  
Population,	  by	  Local	  Government	  Area,	  Western	  Australia.,	  released	  30	  March	  2016 
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Effectiveness	  Indicator:	  	  Area	  of	  commercial	  and	  industrial	  land	  per	  capita	  per	  corridor	  
	  
One	   of	   the	   objectives	   sought	   from	   the	   integration	   of	   land	   and	   transport	   is	   economic	   development	   through	  
enhanced	  employment	  self-‐sufficiency	   in	  metropolitan	  planning	  sectors.	   	   In	  other	  words,	  people	   that	   live	   in	  a	  
suburb	  are	  able	  to	  find	  work	  in	  that	  suburb.	  	  Employment	  self-‐sufficiency	  yields	  several	  benefits	  including:	  	  

• minimising	   environmental	   impacts	   through	   reducing	   the	   need	   for	   long	   car	   journeys	   to	   places	   of	  
employment;	  	  

• revitalising	  suburbs	  through	  increased	  local	  employment;	  	  
• maximising	  utilisation	  of	  infrastructure	  and	  services	  through	  greater	  density	  in	  prescribed	  areas;	  and	  	  
• social	   benefits	   including	   improved	   work/life	   balance	   through	   reduced	   commuting	   times	   and	   an	  

enhanced	  sense	  of	  community.	  	  
	  
The	  Department	   can	   indirectly	   influence	   the	   creation	   of	   jobs	   in	   specific	   geographical	   areas,	   through	   ensuring	  
that	   land	   is	   available	   for	   commercial	   and	   industrial	   purposes.	   	  Western	   Australia	   has	  many	   opportunities	   to	  
promote	  and	  foster	  continued	  strong	  and	  sustainable	  economic	  growth	  in	  commerce,	  industry	  and	  trade.	  	  These	  
have	  and	  will	  continue	  to	  provide	  an	  expanded	  financial	  base	  to	  Government	  for	  meeting	  growing	  community	  
lifestyle	  expectations.	  	  Responding	  to	  the	  needs	  of	  this	  growth	  potential,	  along	  with	  responding	  to	  the	  general	  
needs	  of	  population	  growth,	  has	  and	  will	  continue	  to	  require	  careful	  planning	  and	  management	  of	  the	  State's	  
land	  use	  and	   infrastructure	  requirements.	   	  As	  the	  Department	  has	  significant	   involvement	   in	  this	  role	  through	  
the	  provision	  of	  effective	  and	  timely	  advice,	   the	  Department	  can	  therefore	  make	  a	  substantial	  contribution	  to	  
the	  State's	  economic	  and	  social	  development	  goals.	  	  
	  
Where	   the	   percentage	   of	   commercial	   and	   industrial	   land,	   per	   capita	   per	   planning	   sector	   increases,	   the	  
Department	  demonstrates	  its	  contribution	  to	  fostering	  economic	  development.	  
	  
To	  calculate	  this	  indicator,	  industrial	  and	  commercial	  zoned	  land	  in	  Local	  Authority	  Town	  Planning	  Schemes	  and	  
the	  Perth	  Metropolitan	  Region	  Schemes	  are	  combined	  with	  planning	  sector	  boundaries	  and	  the	  resulting	   land	  
area	   summed	   by	   planning	   sector.	   	   Land	   areas	   per	   capita	   are	   determined	   by	   dividing	   these	   areas	   by	   the	  
population1	  in	  each	  planning	  sector.	  	  
	  
A	  significant	   improvement	  was	  made	  during	  2014-‐15	   in	   relation	   to	   the	  classification	  of	  Local	  Planning	  Scheme	  
zone	  categories	  and	  the	  calculation	  of	  associated	  land	  with	  commercial	  and	  industrial	  activities.	   It	  has	   led	  to	  a	  
more	  precise	  apportionment	  of	  land	  area	  in	  each	  of	  the	  subregions	  and	  significant	  movement	  in	  some	  reported	  
indicators.	  	  	  
	  
	   2012-‐13	  

Actual	  
2013-‐14	  
Actual	  

2014-‐15	  
Actual	  

2015-‐16	  
Target	  

2015-‐16	  
Actual	  

Reasons	  for	  
Significant	  Variance	  

Area	  of	  commercial	  
and	  industrial	  land	  
per	  capita	  per	  
corridor:	  

	   	   	   	   	   	  

	  -‐	  Eastern	  Sector	  –	  
Commercial	  per	  
capita	  

9.0m2 9.6m2 13.1m2 12.6m2	   13.6m2 	  

	  -‐	  Eastern	  Sector	  –	  
Industrial	  per	  capita	   96.7m2 93.3m2 167.2m2 161.3m2	   168.4m2	   	  

                                                
 
1 The	  population	  data	  is	  based	  on	  the	  report	  Regional	  Population	  Growth,	  Australia,	  2014-‐15,	  Australian	  Bureau	  of	  Statistics,	  3218.0	  	  -‐	  Estimated	  Resident	  
Population,	  by	  Local	  Government	  Area,	  Western	  Australia.,	  released	  30	  March	  2016 
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	   2012-‐13	  
Actual	  

2013-‐14	  
Actual	  

2014-‐15	  
Actual	  

2015-‐16	  
Target	  

2015-‐16	  
Actual	  

Reasons	  for	  
Significant	  Variance	  

	  -‐	  Inner	  Sector	  –	  
Commercial	  per	  
capita	  

30.4m2 29.6m2	   25.1m2	   23.9m2	   25.4m2	   	  

	  -‐	  Inner	  Sector	  –	  
Industrial	  per	  capita	   11.8m2	   11.4m2	   11.2m2	   11.0m2	   11.1m2	   	  

	  -‐	  Middle	  Sector	  –	  
Commercial	  per	  
capita	  

20.6m2	   20.8m2	   30.3m2	   32.3m2	   24.6m2	  
A	   decline	   in	   the	   amount	   of	  
rezoning	   to	   commercial	   related	  
uses	  

	  -‐	  Middle	  Sector	  –	  
Industrial	  per	  capita	   59.8m2	   58.7m2	   50.2m2	   52.6m2	   50.9m2 	  

	  -‐	  North	  West	  Sector	  –	  
Commercial	  per	  
capita	  

33.4m2	   39.5m2	   42.3m2	   39.7m2	   39.6m2 	  

	  -‐	  North	  West	  Sector	  –	  
Industrial	  per	  capita	   57.3m2	   55.2m2	   167.9m2	   157.6m2	   156.8m2 	  

-‐	  South	  East	  Sector	  –	  
Commercial	  per	  
capita	  

13m2	   17.7m2	   17.1m2	   16.9m2	   16.7m2 	  

-‐	  South	  East	  Sector	  –	  
Industrial	  per	  capita	   63.6m2	   60.4m2	   76.9m2	   78.0m2	   75.1m2 	  

-‐	  South	  West	  Sector	  –	  
Commercial	  per	  
capita	  

20.9m2	   27.3m2	   46.9m2	   46.3m2	   35.7m2 
A	   decline	   in	   the	   amount	   of	  
rezoning	   to	   commercial	   related	  
uses	  

-‐	  South	  West	  Sector	  –	  
Industrial	  per	  capita	   139.9m2	   134.1m2	   204.2m2	   195.6m2	   200.4m2 	  

-‐	  Perth	  Metropolitan	  
Region	  –	  Commercial	  
per	  capita	  

22.2m2	   24.8m2	   30.5m2	   28.6m2	   26.8m2 	  

-‐	  Perth	  Metropolitan	  
Region	  –	  Industrial	  
per	  capita	  

67.9m2	   63.7m2	   104.8m2	   109.4m2	   102.7m2 	  
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EFFICIENCY	  KEY	  PERFORMANCE	  INDICATORS	  
	  
Service	  1:	  Integrated	  Land	  and	  Infrastructure	  Policy	  Development	  
	  
By	  shaping	  the	  pattern	  of	  development	  and	  influencing	  the	  location,	  scale,	  density,	  design	  and	  mix	  of	  land	  uses	  
it	  contributes	  to	  the	  Government’s	  goal,	  Outcomes	  Based	  Service	  Delivery	  by:	  
• ensuring	  flexibility	  to	  meet	  the	  demands	  of	  a	  changing	  economy	  and	  market	  environments;	  and	  
• maximising	  the	  use	  of	  existing	  infrastructure	  rather	  than	  incurring	  the	  costs	  of	  green	  fields	  infrastructure	  

with	  its	  resulting	  impact	  on	  home	  affordability.	  
	  
	  
Key	  Efficiency	  

Indicator	  
2012-‐13	  
Actual	  

2013-‐14	  
Actual	  

2014-‐15	  
Actual	  

2015-‐16	  
Target	  

2015-‐16	  
Actual	   Reasons	  for	  Significant	  Variance	  

Average	  cost	  per	  
policy	  hour	  for	  
integrated	  land	  
policy	  development	  

$113.25	   $131.08	   $127.63	   $109.98	   $142.49	  

The	   amount	   of	   contractor	   hours	  
estimated	   in	   the	   2015-‐16	   Target	  
data	  was	   underestimated,	   resulting	  
in	   a	   higher	   actual	   average	   cost	   per	  
hour	  in	  2015-‐16.	  	  	  
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DoP Level Government Desired Outcome: 
Accessibility to serviced land and infrastructure 
	  
	  
Effectiveness	  Indicator:	  	   Number	  of	  lots	  given	  preliminary	  and	  final	  approval	  	  
	  
The	  Department	  seeks	  to	  provide	  sufficient	  land	  for	  housing	  to	  accommodate	  the	  anticipated	  future	  population	  
growth	  of	   the	  State.	   	  To	   this	  end,	   the	  Department	  plays	  an	   important	   role	  by	  ensuring	  sufficient	  zoned	  urban	  
land	   and	   facilitating	   orderly	   land	   release	   through	   structure	   planning	   and	   issuing	   subdivision	   approvals	  
throughout	  the	  State.	  	  The	  Department	  is	  partnered	  with	  the	  Western	  Australian	  Planning	  Commission	  (WAPC)	  
in	  this	  process.	  	  
	  
The	  Department	   issued	   final	  approvals	   for	  14,993	  new	  residential	   lots	  during	  2015-‐16	   (Perth	  and	  Peel)	   to	   the	  
land	  development	  industry.	  	  The	  corresponding	  total	  Statewide	  figure	  for	  final	  approvals	  for	  residential	  lots	  was	  
16,692.	  
	  
The	  Department	  is	  not	  the	  sole	  determinant	  of	  land	  availability,	  as	  for	  a	  number	  of	  reasons,	  not	  all	  preliminary	  
approvals	   (which	   reflect	  a	  bank	  of	  developable	   land	   from	  which	  developers	  can	  draw)	  go	   through	  to	   the	   final	  
approval	   stage.	   	   These	   include	   external	   factors	   such	   as	   availability	   of	   raw	  materials,	   interest	   rates,	   developer	  
capacity	   and	   market	   conditions.	   	   Therefore,	   the	   Department	   (via	   the	   WAPC)	   is	   only	   able	   to	   respond	   to	  
applications	  lodged	  for	  preliminary	  and	  final	  approval.	  
	  
These	  measures	  are	  extracted	  from	  the	  Department's	  electronic	  administrative	  subdivision	  tracking	  system	  and	  
are	  published	   in	  the	  quarterly	  bulletin	  entitled	  State	  Lot	  Activity.	   	  Analysis	  of	  trends	  relating	  to	  the	  number	  of	  
lots	   given	   preliminary	   or	   final	   approval	   should	   be	   undertaken	   separately	   as	   each	   indicator	   can	   respond	  
differently	  to	  the	  prevailing	  market	  conditions.	  
	  
	  
	   2012-‐13	  

Actual	  
2013-‐14	  
Actual	  

2014-‐15	  
Actual	  

2015-‐16	  
Target	  

2015-‐16	  
Actual	   Reasons	  for	  Significant	  Variance	  

Number	  of	  lots	  
given	  preliminary	  
and	  final	  
approval	  

	   	   	   	   	   	  

	  -‐	  Residential	   41,027	   51,812	   55,187	   50,000	   40,355	   Actual	   number	   of	   lots	   given	  
preliminary	  and	  final	  approval	  is	  lower	  
than	  the	  target	  as	  a	  result	  of	  a	  general	  
slowdown	  in	  the	   local	  economy	  and	  a	  
decrease	  in	  population	  growth	  

	  -‐	  Non-‐
Residential	  

5,095	   5,283	   5,286	   4,000	   4,254	   	  
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Effectiveness	  Indicator:	  	  

	  
Median	  land	  price	  as	  a	  percentage	  of	  median	  residential	  property	  sales	  
price	  

	  
This	   indicator	  details	   land	   costs	   compared	   to	  median	  house	   sale	  prices.	   	   The	  Department	  has	   some	  effect	  on	  
median	   land	   prices	   by	   ensuring	   that	   there	   is	   sufficient	   stock	   of	   approved	   land	   suitable	   for	   development	   or	  
redevelopment,	  although	  the	  principal	  price	  determinants	  are	  supply	  and	  demand	  in	  the	  market	  itself.	  	  
	  
This	  indicator	  is	  useful	  because	  it	  disaggregates	  the	  price	  of	  residential	  land	  from	  the	  price	  of	  houses.	  	  The	  actual	  
for	  2015-‐16	  for	  the	  whole	  of	  Western	  Australia	  is	  55%	  while	  the	  actual	  for	  Perth	  is	  57%.	  
	  
Median	  sales	  prices	  (derived	  from	  sales	  information	  obtained	  from	  Landgate)	  are	  quoted	  for	  houses	  and	  vacant	  
land	   in	   the	  Perth	  Metropolitan	  areas	  and	   for	   the	  whole	  of	   the	  State	   in	   the	  quarterly	  REIWA	  Market	  Update2.	  	  
This	  indicator	  is	  calculated	  by	  expressing	  the	  median	  land	  price	  as	  a	  percentage	  of	  the	  median	  established	  house	  
price	  for	  the	  Perth	  metropolitan	  area.	  
	  
	   2012-‐13	  

Actual	  
2013-‐14	  
Actual	  

2014-‐15	  
Actual	  

2015-‐16	  
Target	  

2015-‐16	  
Actual	  

Median	  land	  price	  as	  a	  percentage	  of	  
median	  residential	  property	  sales	  price	   54%	   57%	   51%	   55%	   57%	  

	  
	  
	   	  

                                                
 
2 March	  Quarter	  2016	  
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Effectiveness	  Indicator:	  	   Relative	  Affordability	  of	  property	  and	  land	  prices	  
	  
This	   indicator	   compares	   the	   cost	   of	   existing	   property	   and	   land	   prices	   with	   that	   of	   other	   mainland	   and	   non-‐
territory	   capital	   cities.	   	   Given	   that	   housing	   and	   land	   costs	   are	   a	   function	   of	   land	   supply,	   it	   is	   reasonable	   to	  
assume	  that	  relative	  affordability	  of	  housing	  and	  land	  indicate	  effective	  management	  of	  land	  supply	  in	  support	  
of	  economic	  outcomes.	  	  
	  
This	   indicator	  measures	  the	  comparative	  number	  of	  weeks	  that	  a	  home	  purchaser	  requires	  to	  pay	  off	  a	  house	  
purchase	  in	  the	  major	  capital	  cities.	  	  It	  is	  a	  function	  of	  the	  median	  house	  prices	  of	  each	  of	  those	  cities	  over	  the	  
average	  weekly	  earnings.	  	  
	  
Data	   for	   this	   indicator	   is	   sourced	   from	  the	  REIA	  publication	  Market	  Facts3	  and	   the	  Average	  Weekly	  Earnings4,	  
published	  by	  the	  Australian	  Bureau	  of	  Statistics.	  	  	  
	  
	   2012-‐13	  

Actual	  
2013-‐14	  
Actual	  

2014-‐15	  
Actual	  

2015-‐16	  
Target	  

2015-‐16	  
Actual	  

Reasons	  for	  
Significant	  Variance	  

	  
	  
	  
	  
	  
	  
	  
	  

Relative	  
affordability	  of	  
property	  and	  
land	  prices	  

Lowest	  
quintile	  

Second	  
quintile	  

Second	  
quintile	  

Second	  
quintile	  

First	  
quintile	  

Economic	   conditions	   and	   population	  
growth	   interact	   to	   drive	   demand	   for	  
dwellings	   and	   land.	   	   The	   dwelling	   and	  
land	   market	   in	   Western	   Australia	   are	  
responding	   to	   historically	   high	   levels	   of	  
dwelling	   completions	   and	   slowing	  
population	   growth	   underpinned	   by	  
recent	   declines	   in	   net	   overseas	  
migration.	  
	  Throughout	   2015/16	   land	   sales	   have	  
slowed	   considerably	   and	   the	   median	  
house	   price	   has	   fallen	   from	   a	   peak	   in	  
December	  2014.	  
These	   drivers,	   in	   conjunction	   with	  
moderate	  income	  growth	  have	  resulted	  
in	   the	   increased	   affordability	   of	  
dwellings	   in	   Perth,	   relative	   to	   other	  
major	  Australian	  cities.	  

 
	  

	  
	   	  

                                                
 
3 March	  Quarter	  2016 	  
4 November	  2015	  (Cat	  6302)  
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Effectiveness	  Indicator:	  	  	  

	  
Average	  lot	  size	  in	  the	  Perth	  Metropolitan	  Region	  

	  
A	  consolidated	  urban	  form	  enables	  efficient	  use	  of	  urban	  land	  and	  infrastructure	  with	  improved	  access	  to	  public	  
transport,	  recreation,	  community	  and	  commercial	  facilities	  while	  avoiding	  impacting	  upon	  significant	  
environmental	  attributes.	  	  
	  
The	  Department	  plays	  an	  important	  role	  in	  delivering	  a	  compact	  urban	  form	  through	  the	  approval	  of	  
appropriately	  sized	  residential	  lots	  across	  the	  Perth	  metropolitan	  area	  which	  provides	  for	  a	  greater	  diversity	  of	  
housing	  choice	  and	  encourages	  housing	  affordability.	  	  
	  
	  
	   2012-‐13	  

Actual	  
2013-‐14	  
Actual	  

2014-‐15	  
Actual	  

2015-‐16	  
Target	  

2015-‐16	  
Actual	  

Reasons	  for	  
Significant	  Variance	  

Average	  lot	  size	  in	  
the	  Perth	  
Metropolitan	  
Region	  

420m2	   410m2	   396m2	   420m2	   379m2	  

The	   average	   lot	   size	   in	   the	   Perth	  
Metropolitan	   Region	   declined	   in	  
2015/16	   as	   a	   result	   of	   increasing	  
residential	   densities	   in	   new	  
developments	   and	   efforts	   to	  
maximise	   use	   of	   land	   for	  
residential	  purposes	  

	  
	  

	  
Effectiveness	  Indicator:	  	   Determination	  appeals	  that	  are	  unsuccessful	  
	  
The	  percentage	  of	  determinations	  made	  without	  successful	  applications	  for	  review	  provides	  an	  indicator	  of	  the	  
Department's	  effectiveness	  in	  the	  application	  of	  the	  WAPC's	  State	  Planning	  Framework.	  	  	  
	  
Effective	   application	   of	   this	   framework	   delivers	   efficient	   decisions	   and	   ensures	   that	   new	   land	   is	   adequately	  
serviced.	   	   Where	   a	   determination	   is	   successfully	   challenged	   by	   demonstrating	   flaws	   in	   the	   Department's	  
application	   of	   policy,	   additional	   costs	   may	   be	   incurred	   both	   by	   the	   developer	   and	   subsequently	   by	   land	  
purchasers.	  	  
	  
The	  indicator	  is	  the	  number	  of	  all	  subdivision,	  strata	  and	  development	  application	  determinations	  made	  that	  are	  
not	   successfully	   "reviewed',	   (i.e.	   upheld)	   before	   the	   State	   Administrative	   Tribunal	   (SAT),	   expressed	   as	   a	  
percentage	  of	  the	  total	  number	  of	  applications	  determined	  within	  the	  reporting	  period.	  	  	  
	  
The	   data	   shows	   that	   three	   applications	   for	   review	   before	   the	   SAT	   were	   upheld	   in	   2015-‐16,	   and	   that	   3,640	  
subdivisions,	  strata	  and	  development	  applications	  were	  determined.	  
	  
	   2012-‐13	  

Actual	  
2013-‐14	  
Actual	  

2014-‐15	  
Actual	  

2015-‐16	  
Target	  

2015-‐16	  
Actual	  

Determination	  appeals	  that	  are	  
unsuccessful	   99.9%	   99.9%	   99.9%	   99.9%	   99.9%	  

	  
	   	  



KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Department of Planning
Development Assesment Panels

Department of Planning  ANNUAL REPORT  2015/16 63

 	  

10	  

	  
EFFICIENCY	  KEY	  PERFORMANCE	  INDICATORS	  
	  

Service	  2:	  Land	  Accessibility	  Planning	  and	  Policy	  Development	  
	  

This	   service	  contributes	   to	   the	  achievement	  of	   the	  outcome	  "accessibility	   to	   serviced	   land	  and	   infrastructure"	  
through:	  

• ensuring	  that	  sufficient	  land	  is	  available	  for	  purchase	  for	  both	  residential	  and	  commercial	  purposes;	  

• controlling	  lot	  sizes	  and	  therefore	  the	  costs	  of	  infrastructure	  required	  to	  service	  each	  lot;	  	  

• minimising	  delays	   and	   their	   attendant	   costs	   by	  making	   accurate,	   timely	  decisions	  on	   redevelopment	   and	  
subdivision	  proposals;	  and	  

• providing	  resources	  to	  the	  WAPC	  to	  enable:	  	  

! the	  acquisition	  and	  management	  of	  properties	  reserved	  under	  Perth's	  Metropolitan	  Region	  Scheme	  for	  
important	  urban	  roads,	  controlled	  access	  highways,	  parks	  and	  recreational	  reserves,	  special	  uses	  and	  
major	  land	  redevelopment	  projects;	  	  

! the	  disposal	  of	  surplus	  properties;	  	  
! the	  management	  of	  rental	  properties;	  and	  

! other	  special	  planning	  projects	  undertaken	  within	  the	  Perth	  metropolitan	  area.	  	  
	  

	  
Key	  Efficiency	  

Indicator	  
2012-‐13	  
Actual	  

2013-‐14	  
Actual	  

2014-‐15	  
Actual	  

2015-‐16	  
Target	  

2015-‐16	  
Actual	  

Reasons	  for	  Significant	  
Variance	  

Cost	  per	  subdivision	  
and	  development	  
application	  
processed	  

$6,998	   $5,819	   $7,176	   $7,295	   $9,301	  

An	   increase	   in	   the	   Cost	   per	  
subdivision	   and	   development	  
application	   processed	   has	  
resulted	   from	  a	  decline	   in	   the	  
number	   of	   subdivision	   and	  
development	   applications	  
received	  for	  processing.	  
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Cost	  per	  subdivision	  and	  	  
development	  applica^on	  processed	  
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Key	  Efficiency	  Indicator	   2012-‐13	  
Actual	  

2013-‐14	  
Actual	  

2014-‐15	  
Actual	  

2015-‐16	  
Target	  

2015-‐16	  
Actual	  

Statutory	  planning	  applications	  
processed	  within	  statutory	  timeframes	   84%	   79%	   85%	   80%	   81%	  
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Financial	  Year	  

Statutory	  planning	  applica^ons	  processed	  within	  
statutory	  ^meframes	  
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Key	  Efficiency	  

Indicator	  
2012-‐13	  
Actual	  

2013-‐14	  
Actual	  

2014-‐15	  
Actual	  

2015-‐16	  
Target	  

2015-‐16	  
Actual	  

Reasons	  for	  Significant	  
Variance	  

Average	  cost	  per	  
policy	  and	  planning	  
hour	  

$112.03	   $125.67	   $161.10	   $138.59	   $158.02	  

The	   amount	   of	   contractor	  
hours	   estimated	   in	   the	  
2015-‐16	   Target	   data	   was	  
underestimated,	   resulting	  
in	   a	   higher	   actual	   average	  
cost	   per	   hour	   in	   2015-‐16.	  	  
The	   cost,	   however	   is	  
consistent	  with	  the	  amount	  
reported	  in	  2014-‐15	  
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Key	  Efficiency	  
Indicator	  

2012-‐13	  
Actual	  

2013-‐14	  
Actual	  

2014-‐15	  
Actual	  

2015-‐16	  
Target	  

2015-‐16	  
Actual	   Reasons	  for	  Significant	  Variance	  

Town	  Planning	  
Scheme	  amendments	  
(for	  final	  approval)	  
processed	  within	  
timeframes	  

49%	   28%	   32%	   60%	   14%	  

From	   the	   19th	   of	   October	   2015,	  
Local	   Town	   Planning	   Scheme	  
Amendments	   are	   now	   subject	   to	  
statutory	   timeframes	   for	  
determination.	   	   The	   percentage	   of	  
claims	   processed	   remains	   below	  
target	  due	  to	  a	  high	  percentage	  of	  
amendments	   received	   and	   a	  
reduction	   in	   the	   statutory	  
timeframe	  from	  90	  to	  60	  days*.	  

	  
	  

	  
	  
	  
	  
	  

*Departmental	  KPIs	  are	  currently	  under	  review	  in	  order	  to	  reflect	  changes	  brought	  about	  by	  new	  local	  planning	  scheme	  
regulations	  introduced	  in	  October	  2015.	  New	  tracking	  systems	  are	  being	  developed	  to	  capture	  ‘extension	  of	  time’	  requests	  
as	  allowed	  for	  under	  the	  new	  regulations.	  The	  current	  2015/16	  actuals	  do	  not	  reflect	  where	  extensions	  of	  time	  have	  been	  
granted.	  
	  
The	  statutory	  timeframes	  for	  scheme	  amendments	  introduced	  19	  October	  2015	  are	  as	  follows.	  
Basic	  -‐	  42	  days.	  
Standard	  -‐	  60	  days	  
Complex	  -‐	  90	  Days	  
	  
Between	  19	  October	  2015	  and	  30	  June	  2016,	  approximately	  85%	  of	  applications	  determined	  were	  classified	  as	  standard	  and	  
their	  required	  processing	  timeframe	  was	  60	  days.	  	  In	  previous	  reporting	  periods,	  the	  required	  timeframe	  for	  this	  type	  of	  
application	  was	  90	  days.	  
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Key	  Efficiency	  Indicator	   2012-‐13	  
Actual	  

2013-‐14	  
Actual	  

2014-‐15	  
Actual	  

2015-‐16	  
Target	  

2015-‐16	  
Actual	  

Deposited	  and	  Strata	  Plans	  endorsed	  
within	  non-‐statutory	  timeframes	   99%	   99%	   99%	   99%	   99%	  
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